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THE CHICKASAW NAlTON VS. SARAH JONES ET AL. 

1 Be it remembered that at the stated term of the United 
States court in the Indian Territory, southern district, at 

Ardmore, begun and holden at Ardmore on the 5th day of Octo­
ber, 1896, and on the 40th day of said term, to wit, the 8th day of 
December, 1896—present and presiding, the Hon. Constantine B. 
Kilgore, judge—the following, among other, proceedings were had, 
to wit: 

In re Cases of Citizenship Appeal. 

It is ordered by the court that the following rules be, and the 
same are hereby, adopted as rules of practice and proceedure in ap­
peals to this court from the decision of the tribal authorities or the 
United States commission to the five civilized tribes, appointed to 
treat with said tribes, which are provided for by act of Congress, 
upon questions arising upon applications made by persons to be 
enrolled as citizens of the respective tribes of Indians. 

The party desiring to appeal from the decision of any such tri­
bunal or commission ma}r, within sixty days after notice of the 
rendition of the decision thereon, file with the clerk of this court an 
application or petition, duly verified, setting out the style of such 
case; that the same has been decided adversely to the party filing 
the application for appeal, and praying that the said commission or 
tribunal be notified of said appeal and ordered to forward the papers 
to the clerk of this court, together with a duly certified transcript of 
all judgments and entries made and rendered by said tribunal or 
commission in said cause; whereupon the clerk shall issue a notice 
to said tribunal or commission, notifying that an appeal has been 
taken, and to immediately forward all papers in said cause, together 
with a duly certified copy of all judgments and entries made and 
entered by said tribunal, to the clerk of this court. 

The application for citizenship, amendments thereto and answer 
thereto, and amendments thereto shall constitute the plead-

2 ings of all of the parties in this court, and no pleadings shall 
be held invalid for want of form. In accordance with the 

practice before the commission, any party aggrieved may present 
and prosecute an appeal herein for the use and benefit of the entire 
family, including the wife, lineal descendants, and collateral kindred, 
to the United States court for the southern district of the Indian 
Territory. Where one or more of the applicants for citizenship 
reside in the southern district of the Indian Territory the appeal 
shall be taken to the United States court for the southern district, 
and if all the applicants are non-residents of the Indian Territory, 
then said appeal shall be taken to the United States court held in 
the division in this Territory wherein the nation of the tribe to 
which said applicants claim to belong is situated. The clerk of the 
court shall file said papers and docket the case in a separate book 
to be kept for that purpose and known as the " Citizenship docket," 
and the clerk shall also keep a separate record book, in which shall 
be recorded the proceedings of this court in reference to citizenship 
cases, to be known as the " Citizenship record." The party desiring 

1—521 



2 THE CHICKASAW NATION VS. SARAH .TONES ET AL. 

to appeal from any decision rendered by an Indian tribunal or the 
comtnission shall, at the time he files his notice of appeal with the 
clerk of the United States court, also lodge with said clerk evidence 
of the fact that notice of some kind has been served upon the oppo­
site party or his attorney in the case that said application would be 
made. The notice need not be formal, but shall be required to be 
only so drawn as to inform the opposite party of the intention to 
appeal from said decision. After the expiration of the ten days after 
such service, waiver of appearance, or the filing of such papers 
with the clerk where notice of appeal is given before the commis­
sion, the case shall stand ready for trial, and the court shall be 

deemed open at all times for the purpose of hearing and de-
3 termining such cases, and either party to said action may 

introduce such other evidence as they may have in support 
of their cause of action or defense, regardless of whether the same 
was presented to the commission or not. 

The court may, in its discretion or when agreed to by the parties, 
refer all papers in these cases to a special master, with instructions 
to take the testimony and report upon the law and facts presented 
in the record, pleadings, and service. Such reports shall be made 
at the earliest time practicable, not exceeding thirty days from the 
time each cause is referred to said master, and either party shall 
have ten da}rs after the report of said master is filed to file excep­
tions thereto, both as to questions of law and fact, and after five 
days from the filing of the exceptions to said report the cause shall 
stand ready for trial before this court on the exceptions presented 
to the master's report and may be taken up and finally passed upon 
by the court. 

The special master shall be allowed as compensation $5 for each 
cause heard, provided not more than one day's time is devoted to 
said cause, and in case more'than one day's time is consumed he 
shall have $10 and no more as his compensation for hearing the 
same. 

Should the United States commission or the tribunal created by 
the tribal authorities refuse to permit any party to a proceeding to 
establish citizenship and desiring to appeal from the decision of 
such tribunal or commission to withdraw the original papers for 
the purpose of filing the same in this court, such part}^ may, upon 
petition to this court setting forth the fact of such refusal, obtain 
an order of the court commanding such commission or tribunal or 
the clerk or the secretary thereof to surrender such papers and a 
transcript of the entries made therein, as heretofore provided. 

Appeals in citizenship cases must be taken only at Ardmore, and 
for the purpose of hearing and determining such cases the 

4 court at that place shall be deemed open at all times. 
Any case when submitted as required by these rules may, 

in the discretion of the court, be transferred by the court, on the 
application of either part}', to either Ryan, Chickasha, Purcell, or 
Paul's Valley for hearing and determining when the court is in 
session at such places, but the decision of the court, when rendered 
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and all papers in the case shall be filed with the clerk at Ardmore 
(Court Journal 9, page- 283, '4, '5). 

5 Be it remembered that at a regular term of the United 
States court in the Indian Territory, southern district, at 

Ardmore, begun and holden on Monday, the 15th day of November, 
1897, and on the 33rd day of said term, to wit, Wednesday, Decem­
ber 22nd, 1897—preseut and presiding, the Honorable Hosea Town-
send, judge—the following, among other, proceedings were had, to 
wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL. ) 
vs. V No. 78. 

T H E CHICKASAW NATION. ) 

Comes now the plaintiffs herein and, after the leave of the court 
first being had, files their substituted application herein, together 
with 4 exhibits thereto. 

Which said substituted application is in words and figures as fol­
lows, to wit : 

Before the Honorable Dawes Commission. 

In re SARAH JONES, ARMSTEAD JONES and LUCY JONES, His Wife;" 
lsam Jones, James Jones and Alma Jones, His Wife; Tom 
Jones, Henry Jones and Maggie Jones, His Wife; Ida Jones, 
Mary Powell and Jesse Powell, Her Husband; Rosa Powell, 
Their Child ; Edward Jones and Birdy Jones, Children of Arm- } 
stead Jones; Hubbetecker Jones, Child of James Jones; Alfred 
Jones, Child of Henry C. Jones, 

versus 
T H E CHICKASAW NATION. 

Application. 

The applicants would respectfully represent and show to 
6 this honorable commission that the applicant Mrs. Sarah 

Jones is a full-blood Chickasaw Indian, and that she was 
duly and lawfully married on the — day of , 18—, to one James 
Jones and had by said marriage seven children, whose names are 
Mary Jones, Armstead Jones, lsam Jones, James Jones, Tom Jones, 
Henry C. Jones, and Ida Jones, all of whom are now living in the 
Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, and are one-half Chickasaw 
Indians by blood. 

They say that the said Mary Jones was duly and lawfully mar­
ried to the applicant Jesse Powell, and have by said marriage one 
child, whose name is the applicant Rosa Powell, and that Rosa 
Powell is now living in the Indian Territoiy, Chickasaw nation, 
and is one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married in the Indian 
Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Lucy Simms, and have by said 
marriage two children, whose names are the applicants Edward 
Jones and Birdy Jones, both of whom are now living in the Indian 
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Territor}^ Chickasaw nation, and are one-fourth Chickasaw Indians 
by blood. 

That James Jones was duly and lawfully married in the Indian 
Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Alma Clemmons, and have by said 
marriage one child, whose name is the applicant Hubbetecker 
Jones, who is now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, 
and is a one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That Henry C. Jones was duly and lawfully married in the In­
dian Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Maggie Morton, and have by 
said marriage one child, whose name is the applicant Alfred Jones, 
who is now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, and 
is a one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That by reason of the facts herein alleged and the blood therein 
existing all of the applicants herein are members of the Chickasaw 
tribe of Indians by blood and marriage and are entitled to be en­
rolled as such. 

Wherefore they pray that the}' and each of them be en-
7 rolled as members of the Chickasaw tribe of Indians, and for 

all other proper relief. 
A. C. CRUCE, 
CLARENCE B. DOUGLASS, 

Attorneys for Applicants. 
INDIAN TERRITORY, I 

Chickasaw Nation, f 

The affiant, Sarah Hughes, says that she is one of the applicants 
herein, and that the statements made in the foregoing application 
are true. 

her 
SARAH JONES. 

mark. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me b}T Sarah Jones this the 4th 
day of September, 1896. 

T. B. JOHNSON, 
[SEAL.] Notary Public, Southern District, I. T. 

Indorsed : " No. 78. Application of Sarah Jones et al., before the 
Hon. Dawes commission, vs. Chickasaw Nation. Filed Dec. 22,1897. 
C. M. Campbell, clerk." 

8 Before the Honorable Commission to the Five Civilized 
Tribes. 

In the Matter of the Application for Enrollment in the Chickasaw 
Nation of SARAH JONES et al. 

Exception- to Application Filed before Dawes Commission. 

Now comes the Chickasaw Nation, by its attorneys, and respect­
fully shows to this honorable commission that the application 
herein is insufficient in law. 

Wherefore it prays that said application be dismissed. 
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Second. For further special exception the Chickasaw Nation re­
spectfully shows to this commission that the evidence produced by 
the applicant is insufficient to show any claim of citizenship in the 
Chickasaw tribe of Indians. 

Wherefore it prays that said application be dismissed. 
Third. For further special exceptions the Chickasaw Nation shows 

that said application is insufficient, in that it shows that said appli­
cant has not complied with the laws of said nation, and therefore is 
not entitled to any of the rights, privileges, and immunities as such 
citizen. 

Wherefore it prays that said application be dismissed. 
T H E CHICKASAW NATION, 

By Its Attorneys. 

9 And thereafterwards, to wit, on the 17th day of August, 
1898, was filed with the clerk of this court the substituted 

answer in said cause; which said answer is in words and figures as 
follows, to wit: 

Before the Honorable Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes. 

SARAH JONES ET AL. ~) 
vs. V Answer. 

CHICKASAW NATION, j 

Comes now the Chickasaw Nation, by its attorney, and without 
waiving an}' exception heretofore taken to the application filed 
herein and without consenting to, but denying, the jurisdiction of 
this honorable commission to pass upon a question of citizenship in 
the Chickasaw nation or tribe of Indians, presents this its answer to 
said application, and respectfully represents: 

First. The Chickasaw Nation denies that any of the applicants in 
this cause are of Chickasaw Indian blood. 

Second. The Chickasaw Nation avers the truth to be that Sarah 
Jones, the applicant herein, through whom the other applicants 
claim, is a negro, and was a slave, and is therefore not entitled to 
any rights as a citizen of the Chickasaw nation. 

Wherefore, the premises considered, the Chickasaw Nation prays 
that all of the applicants herein be denied citizenship in said Chick­
asaw nation, and will ever prav, &c. 

T H E CHICKASAW NATION, 
By Its Attorneys. 

I, W. B. Johnson, attorney for the Chickasaw Nation, on oath 
state that the original answer in this cause has been lost or 
destroyed, and that the foregoing is a substantial copy of said orig­
inal. 

W. B. JOHNSON. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 15 day of Aug., 1898. 
[SEAL.] P H I L BARRETT, 

Notary Public. 
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Indorsed : " No. 78. Sarah Jones et al. vs. Chickasaw Nation. Sub­
stituted answer. Filed Aug. 17, 1898. C. M. Campbell, clerk." 

10 And thereafterwards, to wit, on the 8 day of Jan'y, 1897, 
was filed in the office of the clerk of the United States court, 

southern district of Indian Territory, at Ardmore, the following 
judgment from the Dawes commission: 

DEPARTMENT OP THE INTERIOR, 
COMMISSION TO THE F I V E CIVILIZED TRIBES, 

VINITA, INDIAN TERRITORY, , 1896. 

SARAH JONES ET AL. ) 
vs. V Application Denied. 

CHICKASAW NATION, j 

I, H. M. Jacoway, Jr., secretary, do hereby certify that the above 
and foregoing is a true and correct copy of Chickasaw Record —, 
page —, of the commission to the five civilized tribes. 

Given under my hand and official signature this — dav of , 
1897. 

H. M. JACOWAY, JR. , Secretary, 
By H E N R Y STROUP. 

The above and foregoing judgment is indorsed in words and fig­
ures as follows, to wit: Sarah Jones et al. vs. Chickasaw Nation. 
Filed Jan. 8th, 1897. Jos. W. Phillips, clerk. 

11 In the United States Court for the Southern District of the 
Indian Territory, at Ardmore. 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiff-, | Petition for Appeal to the U. S. 
vs. > Dist. Court for the Southern 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j Dist., Ind. Ter. 

To the Honorable C. B. Kilgore, judge: 

Comes now the applicants herein, —, feeling themselves aggrieved 
by the decision of the Dawes commission in the above cause, hereby 
prays an'appeal from said decision to this honorable court. 

W. I. CRUCE, 
Attorney for Applicants. 

The foregoing appeal is allowed this 8 day of Jan., 1897. 

C. B. KILGORE, Judge. 
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12 In the United States Court in the Indian Territory, Southern 
District, at Ardmore. 

SARAH JONES ET AL. ~) 
vs. V Notice of Appeal. 

CHICKASAW NATION. J 

To the Hon. Henry L. Dawes, chairman of the commission of the 
United States to the five civilized tribes of Indians. 

SIR : You are hereby notified that an appeal has been granted in the 
matter of the application of Sarah Jones et al. to be enrolled as mem­
bers of the Chickasaw tribe of Indians from your commission to the 
United States court for the southern district in the Indian Territory, 
at Ardmore. You are therefore notified and ordered to immedi­
ately forward to the clerk of this court all of the original papers filed, 
used, and considered in said cause by your commission, together 
with a duly certified copy of all orders, judgments, and entries 
made and entered by you in the trial and consideration of said 
cause. 

Witness the Hon. C. B. Kilgore, judge of said court, and the seal 
thereof, at Ardmore, Indian Territory, this 8 day of Jan'y, 1897. 

[SEAT,] JOS. W. P H I L L I P - , Clerk. 

13 And thereafterwards, to wit, on Tuesday, February 1st, 
1898, present and presiding aforesaid, the following further 

proceedings in said cause were had, to wit : 

lintiff-, I 
VNo. —. 

mdant. i 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiff-,' 
vs. VNo.—. Plea to Jurisdiction. 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defei 

Comes now the defendant. The Chickasaw Nation, and respect­
fully avers that this court has no jurisdiction to hear this cause for 
the reason that the act creating the Dawes commission and the 
right of this court to pass upon causes appealed to it from said com­
mission, determining the question of citizenship in the Chickasaw 
nation, is unconstitutional and void ; that said act gives this defend­
ant no right to cross-examine the witnesses of the applicant-, and the 
same is contrary to the treaty of 1866, entered into by the United 
Scates Government and the Chickasaw nation, by which said Chicka­
saw nation reserved the right to pass upon all matters concerning 
said tribe and all civil and political rights of the individual mem­
bers thereof; that said treaty is still in full force and effect, and was 
at the time of the act of Congress creating the commission to the 
five civilized tribes and authorizing this court to pass upon appeals 
from the same was enacted. 

II. 

Because said act deprives the Chickasaw nation and the individual 
members thereof of property without due process of law. 
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I I I . 

Because said act is class legislation, in that the same deprives 
either party of an appeal, as in other cases, to the higher courts of 
the Territory and of the United States. 

IV. 

Because the jurisdiction extended to this court has been limited 
to controversies between citizens of different tribes or between citi­
zens or members of the tribe of Indians and a United States citizen, 
and expressly reserving to the Indians controversies arising between 
themselves. 

V. 

Because if this court determines that the applicant is a member 
of said nation it is then passing upon rights between citizens of the 
same tribe of Indians, and no judgment thereon can be entered for 
want of jurisdiction in this court. 

Wherefore the defendant prays that said cause be dismissed for 
the above reasons, and that it go hence without day, etc. 

Attorney for Chickasaw Nation. 

The above and foregoing is indorsed in words and figures as fol­
lows, to wit: "Sarah Jones et al., plaintiff-, v*. Chickasaw Nation, 
defendant. Plea to jurisdiction. Filed in open court M'ch 3rd, 1898. 
C. M. Campbell, clerk." 

14 Be it remembered that at a regular term of the United 
States court in the Indian Territory, southern district, at 

Ardmore, begun and holden on Monday, the 15th da}r of November, 
1897, and on the 57th day of said term, to wit, March 8th, 1898— 
present and presiding, the Honorable Hosea Townsend, judge—the 
following, among other, proceedings were had, to wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiffs, ) r> L e AT I • m 
\ Keport of Master m Chancery 

VS- y IT * l j 
CHICKASAW NATION, Defendants, j ] e " 

The undersigned master in chancery, to whom the above-styled 
cause was referred, begs leave to report: 

That this is an application of Sarah Jones and her children and 
grandchildren, sons-in-law, and daughters-in-law for citizenship in 
the Chickasaw nation. 

The application alleges that Sarah Jones is a full-blood Chicka­
saw Indian, and that her children and grandchildren are one-half 
and one-fourth Chickasaw Indians by blood respectively, and that 
her sons and daughters in law are members of the Chickasaw tribe 
of Indians by intermarriage. 

The answer of the nation contends that Sarah Jones is a negro 
and was a slave, and, if an Indian at all, is a Choctaw and not a 
Chickasaw. The proof in the case shows: 
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That Sarah Jones was born in the Chickasaw nation, and that her 
father aud mother were both Chickasaw Indians, and that her 
mother died when Sarah was very young, and that her father, while 
Sarah was still very young, was killed while acting as a Chickasaw 
officer; that she was then given to one Parson Couch, who had 
charge of one of the Chickasaw seminaries; that the said Couch 

kept her at said seminary, aud she attended school aud Sun-
15 day school, as did other Indian children, until she was some 

ten or twelve years old, when Couch left the Indian Territory 
and took Sarah with him to the State of Texas. This was before 
the war, and the proof shows that Couch treated her, after locating 
in Texas, as a slave. The proof also shows that Sarah was of weak 
mind, so much so that she was uever able to learn to read or, in fact, 
to learn anything of any consequence. The proof also shows that 
while she was living in Texas with Couch she gave birth to the ap­
plicant Henry C. Couch, or Jones, and that said Henry C. is a bas­
tard and his father was a white man. Sarah was only about six­
teen years of age at the time of his birth. After the birth of Henry C, 
the proof shows that Sarah was married in the State of Texas to one 
James Jones, who was a negro, and had by him the applicants Mary 
Powell, nee Jones; Armstead Jones, Isam Jones, James Jones, Tom 
Jones, and Ida Jones. The proof shows that her husband, James 
Jones, is now dead, and that after his death Sarah Jones and all of 
her children came back and settled in the Indian Territory, Chick­
asaw natiou, and have been living here for seven or eight years. 

I rind from the proof in this case that Sarah Jones is nearly, if 
not quite, a full-blood Chickasaw Indian. I find, as a matter of law, 
that her sou, Henry C, being a bastard, partook of the nationality 
of his mother, that of an Indian. I also find, as a matter of fact, 
from the evidence that Sarah Jones, Mary Powell, nee Jones!; Arm-
stead Jones, Isam Jones, James Jones, Tom Jones, Henry C. Jones, 
and Ida Jones are each and all Chickasaw Indian- by blood. I 
find that Mary Jones, daughter of Sarah Jones, is married to the 
applicant Jesse Powell and have as the issue of said marriage the ap­
plicant Rosa Powell; that Armstead Jones is married to the ap­
plicant Lucy Jones, and have as the issue of said marriage the ap­
plicants Edward Jones and Birdy Jones ; that the applicant James 
Jones is married to the applicant Alma Jones, and have as the issue 
of said marriage one child, the applicant Hubbetecker Jones; that 

Henry C. Couch, or Jones, is married to the applicant Mag-
16 gie Couch, or Jones, and have as the issue of said marriage 

the applicant Alfred Couch, or Jones. 
I therefore find that each and all of the applicants, viz., Rosa 

Powell, Edward Jones, Birdy Jones, Hubbetecker Jones, and Alfred 
Couch, or Jones, are Chickasaw Indians by blood. 

I therefore recommend that Sarah Jones, Mary Powell, Roots 
Powell, Armstead Jones, Edward Jones, Birdy Jones, Isam Jones, 
James Jones, Hubbetecker Jones, Tom Jones, Ida Jones, Henry C. 
Couch, or Jones and Alfred Couch, or Jones, each and all be ad­
mitted and enrolled as Chickasaw Indians by blood. 

I find that none of the marriages heretofore referred to were in 
2—521 
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compliance with the Chickasaw laws, and J therefore recommend 
that Jesse Powell, Lucy Jones, Alma Jones, and Maggie Jones, who 
apply for citizenship by intermarried, be rejected for the reason that 
they have not complied with the law in regard to marriages. 

All of which is respectfully reported. 

Master in Chancery. 

Indorsed : " No. 78. Sarah Jones vs. Chickasaw Nation. Substi­
tuted master's report. Filed in open court March 8, 1898. C. M. 
Campbell, clerk." 

17 Be it remembered that at a regular term of the United 
States court in the Indian Territory, southern district, at 

A.rdmore, begun and holden on Monday, the 15th day of November, 
1897, and on the 32nd day of said term, to wit, Tuesday, December 
21st, 1897—present and presiding, the Hon. Hosea Townsend, 
judge—the following, among other, proceedings were had, to wit: 

Order. 

In re Order of Court Allowing Substitution of Papers in Citizenship 
Cases. 

The papers in a majority of the citizenship cases pending in this 
court having been burned and destroyed by fire on the morning of 
the 16th inst., it is ordered that the applicants in each and all of 
the said cases have until the 10th day of January, A. D. 1898, to 
substitute all their papers in the various cases, and that W. B. 
Johnson, attorney for the Chickasaw Nation, have until February 
1st, 1898, to substitute the papers of said nation (vol. A, Citizenship 
Record, pages 128 and 129). 

18 Opinion by the Court. 

In the Southern District, Indian Territory. 

TOWNSEND, J. 

In re INDIAN CITIZENSHIP CASES. 

COURT: I have examined with some care the treaties between the 
United States Government and the Choctaws and Chickasaws in 
order that I might become familiar with all the negotiations. The 
first treaties were made in 1786 separately with each tribe or nation, 
as they were called. Not, however, until 1820 was the subject 
mentioned of taking any laud west of the Mississippi river. On 
October the 18th, 1820, near Doak's Stand, on the Natchez road, a 
treaty was entered into between the Choctaws and the Government 
of the United States, in which it was stated in the preamble the 
purpose was " to promote the civilization of the Choctaw Indians 
by the establishment of schools amongst them, and to perpetuate 
them as a nation by exchanging for a small part of their land here 
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a country beyond the Mississippi river, where all who live by hunt­
ing and will not work may be collected and settled together; " 
whereupon, in part consideration of the ceding of a part of their 
reservation then existing, the Government ceded " a tract of country 
west of the Mississippi river, situate between the Arkansas and Red 
rivers," and by its boundaries being substantially the country now 
embraced in the Choctaw and Chickasaw nations. In 1825 another 
treaty was entered into between the Choctaw nation and the Gov­
ernment, by which the Choctaws ceded to the Government all the 
land ceded to them in 1820 " lying east of a line beginning on the 
Arkansas, one hundred paces east of Fort Smith, and running thence 
due south to Red river," in consideration for which the Government 

undertook to remove certain settlers, citizens of the United 
19 States, from the west to the east side of said line and to pay 

certain money consideration for a series of years and certain 
other provisions not material for consideration in this connection. 

On September 27th, 1830, another treaty was entered into be­
tween the Choctaws and the Government, in the preamble to which 
it is recited that " the State of Mississippi has extended the laws of 
said State to persons and property within the chartered limits of 
the same, and the President of the United States has said that he 
cannot protect the Choctaw people from the operation of these 
laws. Now, therefore, that the Choctaws may live under their own 
laws in peace with the United States and the State of Mississippi, 
they have determined to sell their lands east of the Mississippi." 

It is provided that in consideration that the United States " shall 
cause to be conveyed to the Choctaw nation a tract of country wTest 
of the Mississippi river in fee-simple to them and their descendants, 
to inure to them while they shall exist as a nation and live on i t " 
they "cede to the United States the entire country they own and 
possess east of the Mississippi river, and they agree to remove be­
yond the Mississippi river." 

Under the 14th article it is provided that each head of a family 
who desires to remain shall have a reservation, and then states that 
" persons who claim under this article shall not lose the privilege 
of a Choctaw citizen, but if they ever remove are not to be entitled 
to any portion of the Choctaw annuity." 

On the 22nd day of June, 1855, a treaty was entered into between 
the Choctaws, Chickasaws, and the Government, and this was the 
first treaty at which all three were represented. Its purpose was 
declared to be " a readjustment of their relations to each other and 
to the United States," and for a relinquishment by the Choctaws of 

"a l l claim to any territory west of one hundredth degree of 
20 west longitude." In the first article of said treaty it is pro­

vided that " pursuant to act of Congress approved May 28th, 
1830, the United States do hereby forever secure and guarantee the 
lands embraced within the said limits to the members of the Choc­
taw and Chickasaw tribes, their heirs and successors, to be held in 
common." 

On the 28th of April, 1866, another treaty was entered into be­
tween the Choctaws, Chickasaws, and the United States. This 
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treaty seems to have been necessitated by the changed condition of 
affairs that resulted from the war of the rebellion and attempts to 
arrange civil government for the Choctaws and Chickasaws and an 
allotment of their lands in severalty. It provides for the survey 
and platting of the lands, and that when completed the maps, plats, 
etc., shall be returned to a land office that was to be established at 
Boggy Depot for the inspection by all parties interested, and that a 
notice shall be given for a period of ninety days of such return by 
the legislative authorities of said nations, or, upon their failure, by 
the register of the land office; and in article 13 it is provided that 
the notice shall be given not only in the Choctaw and Chickasaw 
nations, " but by publication in newspapers printed in the States of 
Mississippi and Tennessee, Louisiana, Texas, Arkansas, and Ala­
bama, to the end that such Choctaws and Chickasaws as yet remain 
outside of the Choctaw and Chickasaw nations may be informed 
and have opportunity to exercise the rights hereby given to resident 
Choctaws and Chickasaws: Provided, that before any such absent 
Choctaw or Chickasaw shall be permitted to select for him or her­
self or others, as hereinafter provided, he or she shall satisfy the 
register of the land office of his or her intention, or the intention of 
the party for whom the selection is to be made, to become bona fide 
residents in the said nation within five years from the time of the 

selection, and should the said absentee fail to remove into 
21 said nation and occupy and commence an improvement on 

the land selected within the time aforesaid, the said selection 
shall be cancelled, and the land thereafter shall be discharged from 
all claims on account thereof." 

This is the last treaty entered into between the Choctaws and the 
Chickasaws and the United States; but as late as December 24th, 
1889, the council of the Choctaw nation passed a resolution calling 
upon Congress to defray the expense of moving the Choctaws in 
Mississippi and Louisiana to the Choctaw nation. 

I t was not until 1832 that the Chickasaws took any steps by 
treaty to move west. On October 20th, 1832, a treaty was entered 
into between the Chickasaws and the United States. In the pre­
amble it is set forth that " being ignorant of the language and the 
laws of the white man, they cannot understand or obey them. 
Rather than submit to this great evil they prefer to seek a home in 
the West, where they may live and be governed by their own laws." 

In the first article of said treaty it is provided that " the Chick­
asaw nation do hereby cede to the United States all the land which 
they own on the east side of the Mississippi river, including all the 
country where they at present live and occupy." 

It is provided by said treaty that their lands shall be surveyed 
and sold and the proceeds held for their benefit and they would 
hunt for a country west of the Mississippi river, and in the 4th 
article it is provided : " But should they fail to procure such a coun­
try to remove to and settle on, previous to the first public sale of their 
country here, then, and in that event, they are to select out of the 
surveys a comfortable settlement for every family in the Chickasaw 
nation, to include their present improvements," and in the supple-
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mentary articles entered into October 22nd, 1832, it is provided 
" that whenever the nation shall determine to move from their 

present country, that every tract of land so reserved in the 
22 nation shall be given up and sold for the benefit of the nation." 

On May 24, 1834, another treaty was entered into between 
the Chickasaws and the United States, making some different pro­
visions about the sale of their lands, but no change in the general 
purpose. 

On January 17,1837, a convention and agreement was entered into 
between the Chickasaws and the Choctaws, subject to the approval 
of the President of the United States, b}' the terms of which the 
Chickasaws agree to pay the Choctaws the sum of $530,000.00 for 
the territory that they now occupy. Excepting a treaty between 
the Chickasaws and the United States, adopted June 22nd, 1852, in 
regard to the disposition of their lands east of the Mississippi river, 
we are brought down in the history of the treaties of the Chicka­
saws to the treaty of 1855, heretofore mentioned, between the Choc­
taws, Chickasaws, and the United States. 

In all these various treaties, solemnly entered into, there is not one 
line or word to indicate that the Choctaws and Chickasaws who 
did not remove to the western country were not Choctaw or Chicka­
saw citizens and members of their respective tribes. On the 
other hand, in the treaty of 1830 between the Choctaws and the 
United States it is expressly provided that those who remained 
should " not lose the privilege of the Choctaw citizen," " but if they 
ever remove, are not to be entitled to any portion of the Choctaw 
annuity." 

When it was supposed that the lands would be allotted in sever­
alty under the treaty of 1866, it was expressly provided that notice 
should be published in the papers of several States that absent 
Choctaws and Chickasaws might come in and obtain the benefits of 
the allotment, and absentees were to be allowed five years to occupy 
and commence improvements, and all that was necessary was to 
satisfy the register of the land office that that was their intention. 

The allotment did not take place, but if they had not come 
23 in they were only to lose their allotment of land. It did not 

make them any the less Choctaws or Chickasaws or members 
of the Choctaw and Chickasaw tribes. 

It has been said that they could not be put upon the roll as citi­
zens and members of those tribes unless they lived upon the land 
within the Choctaw or Chickasaw nation. I submit that the action 
of the Choctaw and Chickasaw nations themselves when making the 
treaty of 1866 don't bear out that view, and if they were Choctaws 
and Chickasaws in 1866 what has occurred to change their relations 
to those tribes? I have heard of nothing whatever. 

I t is said that the land was held in common, and certainly some 
of the tenants in common in possession could hold the possession 
for all their cotenants in common. The bulk of the nation, living 
in the territory ceded and maintaining the tribal government or 
nation, certainly met every requirement of residence, and was a com-



1 4 THE CHICKASAW NATION VS. SARAH JONES ET AL. 

pliauce in all respects with the treaty stipulations of living on the 
land. 

I shall hold that non-resident Choctaws and Chickasaws who have 
properly filed their application and established their membership of 
the tribes shall be admitted to the roll as citizens. 

Who is an interraar-ied citizen and who is an adopted citizen of 
the Choctaw and Chickasaw nations? 

Article 38 of the treaty of 1866 is as follows : 
" Every white person, who, having married a Choctaw or Chickasaw, 

resides in the said Choctaw or Chickasaw nations, or who has been 
adopted by the legislative authorities, is to be deemed a member of 
said nation, and shall be subject to the laws of the Choctaw and 
Chickasaw nations, according to his domicile, and to prosecution 
and trial before their tribunals, and to punishment according to their 
laws in all respects, as though he was a native Choctaw or Chick­
asaw." 

Does this article apply to future marriages and adoptions 
24 or only those prior to its adoption ? By article 26 of said . 

treaty it is provided, in regard to the rights to take land in 
severalty, as follows: 

Article 26. 
" T h e right here given to Choctaws and Chickasaws respectively, 

sh/ill extend to all persons who have becmoe citizens by adoption 
or intermarriage of either of said nations, or who may hereafter 
become such." 

Under section 7 of the general provisions of the Chickasaw con­
stitution adopted August 16th, 1867, both as originally adopted 
and as amended, said sections can have but one construction, and 
that that they regarded the said 38th article as binding on their 
future action, and if this is so it would not be within the power of 
either the Choctaw or Chickasaw nations to pass or adopt any con­
stitution or law in violation of said article, or that would take away 
the rights, privileges, or immunities that has attached to any white 
person under and by virtue of its provisions. 

Under the constitution of the Chickasaws above referred to sec­
tion 10 of the general provisions gives the legislature power to admit 
or adopt as citizens of said nations " such persons as may be accept­
able to the people at large." 

This authority had been exercised frequently by the legislature 
of both nations, as I am informed, prior to the adoption of said 
treaty as well as subsequent to its adoption. 

On October 19th, 1876. the legislature of the Chickasaws passed 
an act in relation to marriage between citizens of the United States 
and a member of the Chickasaw tribe or nation of Indians. The 
second section, among other things, provides: " Hereafter no mar­
riage between a citizen of the United States and a member of the 

Chickasaw nation shall confer any right of citizenship, or any 
25 right to improve or select lands within the Chickasaw nation, 

unless such marriage shall have been solemnized in accord­
ance with the laws of the Chickasaw nation." 
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This act was amended September 24th, 1887, in some particulars, 
but the above-quoted provision was retained. 

Amongst all civilized nations it is conceded to be a right that 
each nation, and in the United States that each State, can exercise 
and determine by their laws the requirements to be observed in 
solemnizing marriages; but marriage among civilized nations does 
not confer citizenship. Under the Choctaw and Chickasaw law it 
does ; besides, it is supposed to carry with it certain property rights. 
The general rule among civilized nations is that a marriage good 
where solemnized is good everywhere, but in some States, where 
marriage is prohibited between certain races of people, they have 
not been recognized, though they were lawful where solemnized. 
I think it is within the power of the Choctaw and Chickasaw nations 
to say by legislation that before a white person shall become one of 
their citizens, with all the privileges of one, they shall be married 
according to the forms and requirements of their laws, and that 
such legislation is not in violation of the 38th article of the treaty 
of 1866; but when a white person has married a Choctaw or Chick­
asaw according to their laws, and resides in the Choctaw or Chick­
asaw nations, he is in all respects " as though he was a native 
Choctaw or Chickasaw," and his rights under the treaty attaches, 
and it is not within the power of the Choctaw or Chickasaw nation 
to take the same away by legislation or otherwise. It has been 
said that when adoption takes place by an act of their legislature 
the same power that granted can take away. I doubt this proposi­
tion if by the adoption treat\r rights have attached, and I am firmly 
of the opinion that property rights that have attached under the 
treaty cannot be taken away, and that only political rights could 

thus be abrogated. 
26 Along the lines herein indicated the citizenship cases pend­

ing in this court will be disposed of. 
HOSEA TOWNSEND, Judge. 

27 Be it remembered that at a regular term of the United 
States court in the Indian Territory, southern district, at 

Ardmore, begun and holdeu on Monday, the 15th day of November, 
1897, and on the 57th day of said term, to wit, March 8th, 1898— 
present and presiding, the Honorable Hosea Townsend, judge—the 
following, among other, proceedings were had, to wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL. 1 
vs. >No. 78. Judgment. 

CHICKASAW NATION, j 

This day this cause coming on to be heard upon the pleadings, 
exhibits, proof, master's report and exceptions filed thereto, and 
the court, being sufficiently advised, is of opinion that said report 
should be confirmed. 

It is, therefore, ordered, adjudged, and decreed by the court that 
the applicants, Sarah Jones, Mary Powell, Rosa Powell, Armstead 
Jones, Edward Jones, Birdy Jones, Isam Jones, James Jones, Hub-
betecker Jones, Tom Jones, Ida Jones, Henry C. Couch, and Alfred 
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Couch, each and all be admitted and enrolled as members of the 
Chickasaw tribe of Indians by blood, and that they have all the rights, 
privileges, and immunities as such. 

The clerk of this court is hereby ordered to transmit a certified 
copy of this judgment to the commission to the five civilized tribes 
of Indians, which said commission is hereby directed to place upon 
the rolls made out by it for the Chickasaw nation each and all the 
names herein enumerated, and that they have all the rights and 
privileges of Chickasaw Indians by blood, they being admitted as 
members of said tribe b}r blood. 

To thus judgment the Chickasaw Nation, by attorney, excepts. 

28 And thereafterwards,to wit, on Wednesda}', December 22ud, 
1897, present and presiding aforesaid, the following further 

proceedings in said cause were had, to wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiff-, ] 
vs. > No. 78. Motion for a New Trial. 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j 

Now comes the defendant, Chickasaw Nation, and respectfully 
moves the court to set aside the judgment heretofore rendered in 
this cause, for the following reasons, to wit : 

First. Because the judgment was contrary to law. 
Second. Because the same was contrary to the evidence. 
Wherefore it prays that said judgment be set aside and held for 

naught. 
CHICKASAW NATION. 

The above and foregoing is indorsed in words and figures as fol­
lows, to wit: "Sarah Jones et al. vs. Chickasaw Nation." "Motion 
for a new trial." "Filed in open court M'ch 8th, 1898." " C. M. 
Campbell, clerk." 

29 And thereafterwards, to wit, on Monday, March 7th, 1898, 
present and presiding aforesaid, the following further proceed­

ings in said cause were had, to wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiff-, ) No. 78. Order Overruling Plea 
vs. V to the Jurisdiction and Motion 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j for a New Trial. 

On this 7th day of March, 1898, came on to be heard the defend­
ant's plea to the jurisdiction of the court herein and its motion for 
a new trial, and the court, after hearing said plea and motion, is of 
the opinion that the same should be aud is in all things overruled 
and denied ; to which judgment of the court the defendant dul}* 
excepted. 

30 And at the April, 1898, term of said court, to wit, on the 
11th day of Juty, 1898—present and presiding, the Hon. 

Hosea Townsend, judge—the following, among other, proceedings 
were had, to wit: 
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SARAH JONES ET AL. "j 
vs. >No. 78. Order of Substitution. 

CHICKASAW NATION. 1 

It appearing to the court by the affidavit of William B. Johnson, 
attorney for the Chickasaw Natiou, that some of the papers in the 
hereinafter-styled cause were destroyed by fire, and that the same 
were not substituted prior to the judgment rendered in this court, 
it is ordered that the said record be supplied in order that the rec­
ord of appeal may be in all things complete. 

(Signed) HOSEA TOWNSEND, Judge. 

(Court Journal, vol. 11, pp. 114, 115, and 116.) 

SARAH JONES ET AL. "j 
vs. > No. 78. Application for Appeal. 

CHICKASAW NATION. I 

Thereupon the said defendant in said cause, the said Chickasaw 
Nation, deeming itself aggrieved by the said decree made and en­
tered of record on the 8 day of M'ch, 1898, appeals from said 
order and decree to the Supreme Court of the United States for the 
reasons specified in the assignment of errors filed herewith, and it 
prays that this appeal may be allowed and that a transcript of the 
record, proceedings, and papers upon which said order was made, 
duly authenticated, may be sent to the Supreme Court of the United 
States. 

(Signed) W. B. JOHNSON, 
Solicitor for Defendant. 

This 11th day of July, 1898. 

31 And thereafterwards, on the 11th day of July, 1898, w7as 
filed with the clerk of the court the assignment of errors in 

said cause; which said assignment of errors is in words and figures 
as follows, to wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiffs, "j 
vs. V Assignment of Errors. 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j 

The defendant in this action, in connection with his petition for 
appeal, makes the following assignment of errors, which it avers 
occurred upon the trial of the cause, to wit: 

First. The court erred in holding that the act of Congress creat­
ing a commission to pass upon the citizenship of the applicants in the 
Chickasaw nation and the right to appeal to said court was consti­
tutional. 

Second. The court erred in overruling the plea to the jurisdiction 
of the Dawes commission and said court to pass upon the citizen­
ship of the applicants herein. 

Third. The court erred in holding that the laws, customs, and 
usages of the Chickasaw nation did not control and govern the ad­
mission of the applicants to citizenship. 

3—521 
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Fourth. The court erred in holding that the Chickasaw nation 
did not have a right to pass a law relative to citizenship in the 
Chickasaw nation when said law in any way modified or changed 
a treaty of the Chickasaw nation with the United States. 

Fifth. The court erred in holding that the applicants herein, who 
had failed to comply with the laws of the Chickasaw nation regu­
lating his citizenship therein, was still entitled to all the rights and 
immunities of a citizen- and entitled to be enrolled as such. 

Sixth. The court erred in making a general order requiring the 
substitution of all papers in the Indian citizenship cases 

32 during the same term of court at which said papers had been 
destroyed by fire. 

Seventh. The court erred in making a general order requiring 
the substitution of papers in all citizenship cases by the plaintiff-
and defendant within sixty days after the destruction of same. 

Eighth. The court erred in permitting the substitution of papers 
in this cause at the next term of court after the destruction of the 
same without thirty days' previous notice of the application to the 
defendant. 

Ninth. The court erred in holding that hearsay testimon}' to prove 
nationality was admissible as pedigree testimony, which testimony 
was introduced and in substance tended to show the Indian citizen­
ship of the plaintiff-. 

Tenth. The court erred in holding that the hearsay testimony of 
a witness was'admissible as to pedigree when the party whom the 
witness had heard speak was still alive, which said testimony was 
introduced as tending to show the Indian citizenship of the plaintiff-. 

Eleventh. The court erred in admitting as pedigree testimony 
the hearsay evidence of persons not intimately acquainted, by either 
relationship or association, with the persons whom the said witness 
claim-to have heard speak, which evidence was introduced as tend­
ing to show the Indian citizenship of the plaintiff-. 

Twelfth. The court erred in holding as pedigree testimony hear­
say evidence of a witness who was not related or intimately asso­
ciated with the speaker, who was himself not shown to be so con­
nected with the parties whom he had heard speak of their Indian 
ancestry, which evidence was introduced as tending to show the In­
dian citizenship of the applicant-. 

Thirteenth. The court erred in making a general rule that new 
evidence could be introduced upon appeal from the Dawes commis­
sion, which character of evidence was introduced and in substance 
tended to show the Indian citizenship of the plaintiff-. 

Fourteenth. The court erred in granting a decree upon insufficient 
evidence. 

33 Fifteenth. The court erred in holding that all the inter­
married applicants herein are entitled to Indian citizenship 

by virtue of marriage with the applicants herein who claim by 
blood. 

Sixteenth. The court erred in referring this cause to a master in 
chancery. 
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Seventeenth. The court erred in overruling the defendant's excep­
tions to the master's report. 

Eighteenth. The court erred in granting this decree upon the 
substituted pleadings and evidence of the plaintiff- alone, the plead­
ings and evidence of both the plaintiff- and defendant having been 
destroyed. 

Nineteenth. The court erred in granting a decree upon the sub­
stituted report of the master in chancery alone. 

Twentieth. The court erred in overruling the defendant's motion 
for a new trial. 

Twenty-first. The court erred in holding that these plaintiffs, if 
they ever had any rights as citizens of the Chickasaw nation, could 
reside in one of the States of the United States, intermarry with 
United States citizens, exercise the right of suffrage as a citizen- of 
the United States, claim all privileges due such citizens, and not 
thus utterly expatriate themselves from citizenship in the Chickasaw 
nation. 

Twenty-second. The court erred in admitting these applicants 
who have never resided in the Indian Territory and who were not 
so residing at the time of their application to the Dawes commis­
sion. 

Twenty-third. The court erred in entering a decree for the plain­
tiff- in this cause. 

W. B. JOHNSON, 
Attorney for Chickasaw Nation. 

Indorsed: "No. 78. Sarah Jones et at. vs. Chickasaw Nation. 
Assignment of errors. Filed Jul- 11th, 1898. C. M. Campbell, 
clerk." 

34 And thereafterwards, to wit, on the 11th day of July, 1898, 
there was filed in the clerk's office of the United States court, 

southern district, at Ardmore, the following appeal bond ; which 
bond is in words and figures as follows, to wit : 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiff-, j 
vs. VNo. 78. Bond on Appeal. 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j 

Know all men by these presents that we, the Chickasaw Nation? 
as principal, and R. M. Harris, gov., and Richard McLish and Wal­
ter Colbert, as sureties, are held and firmly bound unto the plain­
tiff-, , in the full and just sum of 100 dollars, to be 
paid to the said plaintiff-, — certain attorneys, executors, admin­
istrators, or assigus; to which payment, well and truly to be made, 
we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, and administrators, jointly 
and severally, by these presents. 

Sealed with our seals and dated this 11th day of July, in the year 
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and ninety-eight. 

Whereas lately, at a court of the United States for the southern 
district of the Indian Territory, in a suit pending in said court be­
tween Sarah Jones et al., plaintiff-, and The Chickasaw Nation, 
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defendant, a decree was rendered against the said Chickasaw Nation, 
and the said Chickasaw Nation having obtained an appeal and filed 
a copy thereof in the clerk's office of the said court to reverse the 
decree in the aforesaid suit, and a citation directed to the said 

, citing and admonishing — to be and appear at a ses­
sion of the Supreme Court of the United States, to be holden at the 
city of Washington, in the mouth of October next: 

Now, the condition of the above obligation is such that if the said 
Chickasaw Nation shall prosecute said appeal to effect and answer 
all damages and costs if he fail to make this said plea good, then 
the above obligation is to be void ; otherwise to remain in full force 
and effect. 

CHICKASAW NATION. 
R. M. HARRIS, Gov. 
RICHARD McLISH. 
WALTER COLBERT. 

Sealed and delivered in the presence of— 
FRED C. CARR. 
P H I L BARRETT. 

Approved by— 
HOSEA TOWNSEND, 

Judge of the United States Court for the 
Southern District of the Indian Territory. 

The above and foregoing bond is indorsed in words and figures 
as follows, to wit: "Sarah Jones et al. vs. Chickasaw Nation. De­
fendant's bond. Filed in open court July 11th, 1898. C. M. Camp­
bell, clerk." 

35 The foregoing claim of appeal is allowed and bond for 
costs fixed at $100. 

(Signed) HOSEA TOWNSEND, Judge. 

This 11th day of July, 1898. 

(Court Journal, vol. 11, pp. 114, 115, and 116.) 

vs. > No. 78. Order. 
CHICKASAW NATION. 

Thereupon, upon motion of William B. Johnson, attorney for the 
Chickasaw Nation, it is ordered that the defendant have ninety 
days in which to prepare and file its bill of exceptions. 

(Signed) HOSEA TOWNSEND, Judge. 

(Court Journal, vol. 11, pp. 114, 115, and 116.) 

. N o . 78. Order Granting Extension of Time 

CHICKASAW NATION. J f o r R e t u r u *V 

Thereupon comes William B. Johnson and moves the court that 
the return day of the citation in this cause be extended sixty days ; 
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and it appearing to the court that owing to the great number of 
cases to be appealed by the Chickasaw Nation it would be impos­
sible to immediately perfect the appeal by said nation in all of said 
cases, it is ordered that the return day of said citation be extended 
sixtv days. 

" (Signed) HOSE A TOWNSEND, Judge. 

(Court Journal, vol. 11, pp. 114, 115, and 116.) 

36 T H E UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, SS : 

To Sarah Jones et al., Greeting: 

Whereas the Chickasaw Natiou has lately appealed to the Su­
preme Court of the United States from a decree lately rendered in 
the United States court for the southern district of the Indian Ter­
ritory, made in favor of you, the said Sarah Jones et al., and has 
filed the security required by law : 

You are therefore cited to appear before the said Supreme Court, 
at the city of Washington, on the first day of the fall term next, to 
do and receive what may appertain to justice to be done in the 
premises. 

Given under my hand, at the city of Ardmore, in the southern 
district of the Indian Territory, this 11th day of July, in the year 
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and ninety-eight. 

HOSEA TOWNSEND, 
Judge of the United States Court for the 

Southern District of the Indian Territory. 
Original. 

I hereby, this 16 day of July, 1898, accept due personal service 
of this citation on behalf of Sarah Jones et al., appellees. 

W. I. CRUCE, 
Solicitors for Appellees. 

[Endorsed:] 78. Sarah Jones et al. v. Chickasaw Nation. Cita­
tion. Original. Filed in open court Jul- 11, 1898. C. M. Camp­
bell, clerk. 

37 And thereafterwards, on the 11th day of July, 1898, was 
filed wTith the clerk of the United States court for the southern 

district of the Indian Territory the following affidavit for substitu­
tion of papers, to wit: 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiff-,) A rc , .. f a , . . . , . 

V Affidavit for Substitution. vs. i auiuavu IUI ouusti 
I of Papers. CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant 

Comes nowr William B. Johnson, attorney for the Chickasaw Na­
tion, who, being duly sworn, upon oath deposes and says : 

That in the above numbered and styled cause a great many of the 
papers were destroyed by fire and have not been substituted, and 
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that said record is incomplete and the appeal cannot be perfected 
without the same are supplied. 

WM. B. JOHNSON. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 9th day of Julv, 1898. 
[SEAL.] P H I L BARRETT, 

Notary Public. 

The above and foregoing affidavit is endorsed in words and 
figures as follows, to wit: " No. 78. Sarah Jones et al. vs. Chicka­
saw Nation. Affidavit for substitution of papers. Filed in open 
court July 11th, 1898. C. M. Campbell, clerk.-' 

38 And thereafterwards, to wit, on the 29th day of Sept., 1898, 
was filed with the clerk of this court the bill of exceptions in 

said cause; which said bill of exceptions is in words and figures as 
follows, to wit : 

United States Court for Southern District of Indian Territory, at 
Ardmore. 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiffs, ] 
vs. > Bill of Exceptions. 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j 

Be it remembered that on the 1 day of September, 1896, Sarah 
Jones et al. filed with the Dawes commission, at Vinita, Indian 
Territory, their application for citizenship in the Chickasaw nation. 

That thereafter, to wit, on the 15 day of Sept., 1896, the Chickasaw 
Nation filed with the said Dawes commission its answer to the ap­
plication of the said Sarah Jones et al., in which the said Chickasaw 
Nation, after objecting to and denying the jurisdiction of said Dawes 
commission to pass upon a question of citizenship in the Chickasaw 
tribe of Indians, did answer in detail the allegations of the appli­
cants. 

That thereafter, to wit, on the 15 day of Nov., 1896, the said Dawes 
commission denied the application of the said Sarah Jones et al. for 
citizenship in the said Chickasaw nation. 

That thereafter, to wit, on the 15 day of Dec, 1896, the said ap­
plicant-, Sarah Jones et al., did appeal from the decision of said 
Dawes commission to the United States court for the southern dis­
trict of the Indian Territory, at Ardmore, said appeal being duly 
perfected upon notice to the Chickasaw Nation. 

Be it further remembered that on the 8 day of Dec, 1896, an order 
was made referring said cause to a master in chancery. 

39 And when said cause came on to be heard before said mas­
ter the defendant, The Chickasaw Nation, objected to said 

hearing and the authority of the master to pass upon this cause, 
and then and there excepted to the action of said master. 

Be it further remembered that on the 1 day of Aug., 1898, this 
cause, having been referred, as aforesaid, to a master in chancery, 
came on to be heard before said master in chancery in the town of 
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Ardmore; and, after hearing the same, the said master recom­
mended the admission of the said Sarah Jones and her descendants 
as citizens by blood, but denied the same to the applicants who had 
intermarried with said descendants; to all of which report recom­
mending the admission of the above applicants the defendant then 
and there excepted. Said exceptions to the master's report are in 
words and figures as follows, to wit: 

In the United States Court for Southern District of Indian Territory, 
at Ardmore. 

SARAH JONES ET AL., Plaintiffs, i 
vs. V Exceptions to Master's Report. 

CHICKASAW NATION, Defendant, j 

Comes now the Chickasaw Nation and respectfully excepts to the 
report made by the master in said cause because: 

First. Same is not supported by the evidence. 
Second. The decision is not in conformity with the law in force 

governing such cases in the Chickasaw nation, Indian Territory. 
Wherefore it prays that said report be disapproved and the appli­

cants rejected. 
W. B. JOHNSON, 

Attorney for Chickasaiv Nation. 

That thereafter, to wit, on the 8 day of March, 1898, when said 
exceptions came on to be heard by the court, the same were over­
ruled ; to which the defendant objected, and, said objection being 
overruled, the defendant then and therein open court duW excepted 
and still excepts. 

40 Be it further remembered that on the 1 jday of Aug.18, 97, 
when said cause came up before the aforesaid master in chan­

cery for hearing, certain testimony was introduced which had not 
been introduced before the Dawes commission, but was taken after 
appeal was perfected from the decision of said Dawes commission ; 
to the introduction of which testimony for the above reason the 
defendant objected, and, said objection being overruled, the de­
fendant then and there excepted and still excepts. 

Be it further remembered that on the 8 da}7 of M'ch, 1898, the 
defendant filed its plea to the jurisdiction of the Dawes commission 
to pass upon a question of citizenship in the Chickasaw tribe of 
Indians and of this court to pass upon this cause upon appeal from 
said Dawes commission for reasons stated in said plea; which plea 
was by the court overruled ; to which the defendant objected, and, 
said objection being overruled, the defendant then and there ex­
cepted and still excepts. 

Be it further remembered that on the 8 day of M'ch, 1898, the 
above cause came on to be heard before the Honorable Hosea 
Townsend, judge of the above court; whereupon came the plaintiffs, 
by their attorneys, and the defendant, by its attorney, and the fol­
lowing, among other, proceedings were had, to wit: 
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Plaintiffs introduced the following testimony : 

41 INDIAN TERRITORY, 
Chickasaw Nation 

The affiant, Mrs. Sarah Jones, after being first duly sworn, says: 
That she is about 55 years of age and was born at Tishomingo, 

Chickasaw nation, Indian Territory, where she has lived all her 
life, except a brief residence iniTexas, and that she is a full-blood 
Chickasaw Indian. She says that she was duly and lawfully 
married to James Jones, who was a colored man, about 38 years 
ago, and that she had by her marriage with said James Jones seven 
children, all of whom are now living in the Indian Territory, Chicka­
saw nation, and whose names are Mary Jones, Armstead Jones, 
Isam Jones, James Jones, Tom Jones, Tennessee Jones, and Ida 
Jones. She says that her daughter Mar}^ Jones was duly and law­
fully married in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Jesse 
Powell, and have by said marriage one child, whose name is Rosa 
Powell. 

That her son Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married in 
the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Lucy Simms, and have 
by said marriage two children, whose names are Ed ward Jones and 
Bertie Jones; that her son James Jones was duly and lawfully 
married in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Alma 
Clemmons, and have by said marriage one child, whose name is 
Hubbetecker Jones. 

That her son Henry C. Jones was duly and lawfully married in 
the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, to Maggie Morton, and 
have by her said marriage one child, whose name is Alfred Jones. 
She says that she has been known and recognized all her life as a 
full-blood Chickasaw Indian and has lived in the Chickasaw nation 
ever since she was born and now so resides, and that all of her 
children above named are now living in the Indian Territory, 
Chickasaw nation, and have so lived all their lives. 

her 
(Signed) SARAH x JONES. 

mark. 

42 Subscribed and sworn to before me by Sarah Jones this 
4th day of September, 1896. 

(Signed) T. B. JOHNSON, 
[SEAL.] N. P., Southern Dist., I. T. 

INDIAN TERRITORY, [ 

Southern District. j 

E. M. Cheoppe, being duly sworn, on oath says: 
I am a citizen of the Chickasaw nation, Ind. Ter., by blood. I 

know Mrs. Sarah Jones, and know that she is a member of the 
Chickasaw tribe of Indians by blood and has been recognized as 
such. I am familiar with the family history of Mrs. Sarah Jones, 
and have known her for a period of forty years, during which time 
she has resided in the Indian Territory. 

(Signed) M. CHEOPPE. 
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Subscribed and sworn to before me, a notary public in and for 
the southern judicial district, Indian Territory, this 31st dav of 
August, 1896. 

(Signed) T. B. JOHNSON, 
Notary Public, Southern District, Indian Territory, [SEAL.] 

43 INDIAN TERRITORY, I 

Chickasaw Nation, j 

The affiant, Fannie Sinims, after being first duly sworn, says: 
I ana 56 years of age and live in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw 

nation, and have so lived for four years, and am a citizen of the 
United States. I am acquainted with Mrs. Sarah Jones and have 
known her for years. She is a full-blood Chickasaw Indian, and has 
been known and recognized as such all her life. She was duly and 
lawfully married to Jones, and has by said marriage seven 
children, whose names are Mary Jones, Armstead Jones, Isam Jones, 
James Jones, Tom Jones, Henry C. Jones, and Ida Jones, all of 
whom are now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, 
and are one-half Chickasaw Indian by blood. The said Mary Jones 
was duly and lawfully married to Jesse Fowler, and they have by 
said marriage one child, one child, Rosa Powell, who is a one-fourth 
Indian by blood. Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married 
to Lucy Si rams, and has by said marriage two children, whose 
names are Edward Jones and Bertie Jones, who are about one fourth 
Chickasaw Indians by blood. 

That the said James Jones was duly and lawfully married — 
Alena Clemmons, and has by said marriage one child, Hubbetecker 
Jones, who is a one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

Henry C. Jones was duly and lawfully married to Maggie Mor­
ton, and has by said marriage one child, whose name is Alfred 
Jones, and who is a one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood ; that 
all of said parties are now living in the Chickasaw nation, Indian 
Territory. 

her 
(Signed) FANNIE x SIMMS. 

mark. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, a notary public, this the 3rd 
da}7 of September, 1896. 

(Signed) T. B. JOHNSON, 
Southern District, Indian Territory, [SEAL.] 

44 INDIAN TERRITORY, \ 

Chickasaw Nation, j 

The affiant, Henry Hodge, after first being duly sworn, says: I 
am 25 years of age and live in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw 
nation, and have so lived for 2J years and am living there now. I 
am acquainted with Mrs. Sarah Jones and have known her for two 
and one-half years. She is a full-blood Chickasaw Indian, and has 
been known and recognized as such all her life. She was duly and 

4—521 
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lawfully married to Jones, and has by said marriage seven 
children, whose names are Mary Jones, Armstead Jones, Isam Jones, 
James Jones, Tom Jones, Henry C. Jones, and Ida Jones, all of 
whom are now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw nation, 
and are one-half Chickasaw Indians by blood. The said Mary 
Jones was duly and lawfully married to Jesse Powell, and they 
have by said marriage one child, Rosa Powell, who is a one-fourth 
Indian by blood. 

Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married to Almond Clem-
mons, and has by said marriage two children, whose names are 
Edward Jones and Burney Jones, who are one-fourth Chickasaw 
Indians b}' blood. 

That the said James Jones was duly and lawfully married to 
, and has by said marriage one child, Hubbetecker Jones, 

who is a one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 
That Henry C. Jones was duly and lawfully married to 

and has by said marriage one child, whose name is Alfred Jones, 
and who is a one-fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That all of said parties, except Henry C. Jones and his son, Alfred 
Jones, are now living in the Chickasaw nation, Indian Territory. 

(Signed) H E N R Y HODGES. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this the 3rd day of Septem­
ber, 1896. 

(Signed) T. B. JOHNSON, 
Notary Public, Southern District, bid. Ter. [SEAL.] 

45 The plaintiffs here offer in evidence the following testi­
mony, which had been heretofore introduced before the mas­

ter in chancer}' over the objection of the defendant, and now, at 
the time of offering said testimony before the court, the defendant 
objected for the reason that the same had not been used before the 
Dawes commission and was now introduced for the first time upon 
appeal; which objection the court overruled ; the defendant then 
and there excepted and still excepts. 

I t is agreed that the following testimony was taken before the 
master in chancery, in the town of Ardmore, but which said testi­
mony was destroyed by fire, and it is agreed that the following shall 
be substituted in lieu thereof. 

(Signed) CRUCE, CRUCE & CRUCE, 
Attorneys for Applicants. 

W. B. JOHNSON, 
Attorney for Chickasatv Nation. 

testified that she was of African descent and was 
years of age, and that she knew the applicant Sarah Jones when 
she was a girl and knew her while going to school to Parson Couch, 
at academy, in the Chickasaw nation, Indian Territory; that 
affiant was a servant at said academy at said time, and that Sarah 
Jones was ten or eleven years of age ; that Sarah Jones was going 
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to school at said academy as an Indian, was recognized and known 
as an Indian, and attended the Sunday school for Indian children, 
and that she staid there until Parson Couch left the academy and 
went to the State of Texas, when Sarah Jones went with him. 

46 testified that she is — years of age; that she 
. knew Sarah Jones when she was a girl, and knew her father 

and mother, and was at the burial of her father and mother, and 
that her father and mother were both Chickasaw Indians, and that 
her father was killed by a negro man while acting as an Indian 
officer, and was buried in the Chickasaw nation. 

Mrs. says she is — years of age and a member of the 
Chickasaw tribe of Indians by blood, and is on the rolls, and that 
she is a sister of Mrs. D. C. Carter ; that she is well acquainted with 
Sarah Jones, and has known her since she was a small girl ; that 
Sarah Jones is a Chickasaw Indian, and is nearly, if not quite, a full-
blood ; that her father and mother were both Chickasaw Indians 
by blood. 

It is agreed that the following testimony was taken before the 
master in chancery, in the town of Ardmore, but which said testi-
money was destroyed by fire, and it is agreed that the following 
shall be substituted in lieu thereof. 

(Signed) CRUCE, CRUCE & CRUCE, 
Attorneys for Applicants. 

W. B. JOHNSON, 
Attorney for the Chickasaw Nation. 

testified that she was — years of age and of African 
descent, and that she knew the applicant Sarah Jones when she 
vas a girl and knew her while going to school to Parson Couch, at 

academy, in the Chickasaw nation, Indian Territory ; that 
affiant was a servant at said academy at said time, and that Sarah 
Jones was ten or eleven years of age; that Sarah Jones was going 
to school at said academy as an Indian, was recognized and known 
as an Indian, and attended the Sunday school for Indian children, 
and that she stayed there until Parson Couch left the academy and 
went to the State of Texas, when Sarah Jones went with him. 

47 The plaintiffs here closed their testimony and rested their 
case. 

Whereupon the defendant introduced the following testimony, 
to wit: 

On the part of the defendant, The Chickasaw Nation. 

The affiant, , says that he is — years of age and is the 
editor of a newspaper in Gainesville, Texas; that he knew the ap­
plicant, Sarah Jones, and knew her up until she was 18 or 19 years 
of age, and that during the time her knew her she was living with 
Parson Couch, in the State of Texas; that this affiant was about her 
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at Parson Couch's frequently and was well acquainted with her, and 
that she was treated by said Couch as a slave; that she was married 
in the State of Texas to — Jones, who was a negro, but that she had 
one child before she married Jones, which was a bastard. 

48 This being all the testimony introduced upon the trial of 
the cause by either plaintiffs or defendant, the court rendered 

its decree in favor of the plaintiffs herein ; to all of which decree and 
the rendition thereof the defendant in open court then and there duly 
excepted and still excepts. 

Be it further remembered that on the 8th day of March, 1898, the 
defendant presented to the court its motion for a new trial for rea­
sons set forth in said motion; which motion was by the court over­
ruled and denied ; to which judgment of the court in overruling 
said motion the defendant then and there in open court duly ex­
cepted and still excepts. 

And now comes the defendant, Chickasaw Nation, on this 28th day 
of September, 1898, and within the ninety days allowed by thejudge 
of this court for filing this bill of exceptions, and presents and ten­
ders this its bill of exception to the court, and prays that the same 
be allowed, signed and sealed, and made a part of the record in 
this case. 

To the approval and signing of said purported bill of exceptions 
the appellees object: 

First. Because, under the act of Congress of June 10,1896, the claim 
of appellees to Chickasaw citizenship has been inquired into, passed 
upon, and adjudicated by the final judgment of this court duly 
rendered and entered herein, and because the act of July 1, 1898, 
does not confer upon the Supreme Court the power or jurisdiction 
to revise or review said final judgment, and confers upon said Su­
preme Court appellant jurisdiction only to inquire into and pass 
upon the constitutionality or validity of said act of June 10, 1896. 

Second. Because the final judgment herein was duly rendered and 
entered prior to the passage of the act of July 1, 1898, and by the 
rendition thereof the appellees, ipso facto, were invested with the 
vested and valuable rights of Chickasaw citizenship, which carried 
with it the vested and valuable rights of property, and for that reason 
the said act of July 1, 1898, which purports to confer upon the said 
Supreme Court appellaw?/ jurisdiction of this cause, is unconstitu­
tional and void. 

But the court, after being advised in the premises, overrules 
said exception and objection to the filing of said bill of exceptions, 
and hereby allows, signs, and seals the same and directs that the 
same be made a part of the record in this case. 

f Seal United States Court in the Indian Territory, \ 
\ Southern District. J 

HOSEA TOWNSEND, 
Judge of the United States Court in and for the 

Southern District of the Indian Territory. 
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49 UNITED STATES OP AMERICA, 
Indian Territory, Southern District. 

I, C. M. Campbell, clerk of the foregoing district and Territory, 
do hereby certify that the foregoing 48 pages contain full, true, and 
complete copies of all the pleadings, proceedings, and record entries, 
including the opinion of the said court, in the case of Tbe Chicka­
saw Nation, appellant, vs. Sarah Jones et al., appellee-, No. 78, as 
the same remain upon the files and records of the United States 
court, Indian Territory, southern district, at Ardmore. 

I further certify that the original citation in said cause, with the 
admission of service thereon, is hereto attached and herewith re­
turned. 

In testimony whereof I hereunto subscribe my name and affix the 
seal of said court, at the city of Ardmore, this 29th day of Septem­
ber, 1898. 

f Seal United States Court in the Indian Territory, \ 
I Southern District. J 

C. M. CAMPBELL, 
Clerk of the United States Court, 

Southern District, Indian Territory. 

Endorsed on cover: Case No. 17,106. Indian Territory U. S. 
court. Term No., 521. The Chickasaw Nation, appellant, vs. Sarah 
Jones et al. Filed October 28, 1898. 



DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, 
Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes, 

I, A. S. McKennon, a member of the Commission to the Five 
Civilized Tribes, do hereby certify that the case of Sarah Jones, 
and others, was never placed upon the docket of citizenship cases 
by the Commission under the Act of Congress, June 10th, 1896, be­
cause they were found to be negroes, and not Chickasaw Indians, 
and no judgment was therefore entered upon the docket of said 
Commission at that time, the Commission having no authority under 
said Act to consider or pass upon applications of Freedmen for 
enrollment. 

Witness my hand as such Commissioner this January 2nd, 1900. 

Comrniss loner 
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South M e A l e s t e r , I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , August 1 7 , 1905 . 

LETTER OF INSTRUCTIONS. 

IS THE CASE OP SARAH JOUES, ET AL, VS. CHOCTM MD CHICKASAW TTATIOHS. 

You a r e d i r e c t e d t o p r o c e e d t o Ardmore, I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , 

and c o n f e r w i t h F r s . B . W. C a r t e r . "Do s o , i f p o s s i b l e in t h e a b ­

s e n c e of h e r s o n , C h a r l e s D. C a r t e r , as h e l i u n f r i e n d l y to u s . 

I t w i l l he remembered t h a t t h e p r i n c i p a l a p p l i c a n t , Sarah 

J o n e s c l a i m s t o "be an I n d i a n , and t h a t she was t u r n e d o v e r by h e r 

f a t h e r , upon t h e d e a t h of h e r m o t h e r , ( b o t h of whom were f u l l b l o o d s ) 

to Rev. Couch, who was t h e manager of a n I n d i a n s c h o o l ; and t h a t s h e 

went t o s c h o o l and a s s o c i a t e d w i t h the o t h e r Chickasa? / I nd i an c h i l d ­

r en w h i l e t h e r e ; and a f t e r w a r d s t h a t she was t a k e n to Texas b y Rev. 

Couch. 

Our t h e o r y i s t r a t she i s a n e g r o ; t h a t s h e was b o u g h t as a 

s l a v e b y Rev. Couch, and c o n s i d e r e d and t r e a t e d a s such; and t h a t she 

was t a k e n t o Texas by h im, and t h e r e h e l d and c o n s i d e r e d by him as a 

s l a v e . Th i s c l a i m a n t h a s t h e undoubted p e r s o n a l a p p e a r a n c e of a 

n e g r o ; and o u r t h e o r y i s s u p o r t e d by t h e t e s t i m o n y of Mrs . S h e a p p e , 

of D o u g h t e r y , Indian T e r r i t o r y , and J . M. W i l s o n of C o a l g a t e , I n d i a n 

T e r r i t o r y , b o t h of whom knew h e r w h i l e she was owned by Couch i n t h e 

I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , and a l s o by v a r i o u s o t h e r p e r s o n s who knew h e r 

from t h e t i m e she a r r i v e d i n Texas , up to a few y e a r s ago , and know 

t h a t she was c o n s i d e r e d as a neg ro and a s l a v e , and so c o n s i d e r e d 

h e r s e l f . 



\* Mrs, Betsy Myers, a Chickasaw Indian gives testimony on be­

half of the appl icants , in which she s t a t e s that she was acquainted 

with he r , and various other things tending to show t h a t she was an 

Indian. 

Mrs. Garter, the witness you are to see is e i t er the 

s i s t e r or a near r e l a t i v e of Mrs. Sheoppe that she attended school 

at tha t time, and we think she wi l l "be ahle to give de f in i t e and 

complete information r e l a t i ve to the appl icants , coroborating 

the testimony of Mrs. Sheoppe, J . M. Wilson, and o thers . 

Take from her a f u l l and complete statement of a l l she 

knows of these appl icants , from her f i r s t knowledge of her , to the 

present time. Also have her s t a t e v&iat she knows with reference to 

the attendence at t h i s school of Betsy Myers, and also as to Betsy 

Myers reputation for 4ruth and va rac i ty . 



Statement of J.M.Wilson of Coalgate,I,T. 

About the middle of May,1903,I saw J.M.Wilson of Coalgate,I.T. 

in regard to the Sarah Jones citizenship case. I took a statement 

from him in that casejbut an examination of the papers shows that 

said statement has "been lost or misplaced. 

Mr. Wilson said that when he was a hoy sixteen or seventeen years of 

agehe lived with his father in the Indian Territory near an old 

Missionary "by the name of Ezekie.l Couch; that Ezekiel Couch was a 

preacher and also taught one of the National Schools. He said further 
P T 

that Ezeki 1 Couch own d a colored girl by the name of Sarali; that 

he has heard Ezekiel Couch say that she was a negro, that he had k» 

bought her and that she was his slave. A few years before the war 

Couch moved to Grayson county,Texas,and settled close to where 

the affiant Wilson lived at that time. He said that Couch carried 

Sarali with him,and kept her as his slave,and paid taxes on her in 

Grayson County. Wilson further says tht a hired hand on Couch's place 

by the name of Ing got Sarali in a family way; that she had a child by 

him ,and that the childs name was Henry,commonly called Hal. He 

now calls himself Hal Couch. Wilson saw Sarah many times in Texas 

and knew that she was the slave of Rev. Couch. She was considered a 

negro by all who knew her. She finally married a negro. 

D.A.Richardson. 
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SARAH JOKES,ET AL. 

Application staes that Mrs.Sarah Jones is a full blood Chickasaw 

Indian; that on the day of 18 she was lawfully married to one 

James Jones,and had by said marriage seven children,whose names she gives , 

and all of whom she says are now living in trie Chickasaw Nation,and are l/2 

blood Chicifcsaws. Gives the names of her children the persons whom they 

married together with their iss«e. Ask for enrollment. 

Application was denied by the Dawes Commission. Appealed to the 

United States Court for the Southern District, The report of the Master in 

Chancery is signed in blank. It finds that Sarah Jones is a full blood 

Chickasaw Indian; that her mother died when Sarah was very young; that her 

father was killed while acting as a Chi kasaw officer. That Parson Couch in 

in charge of one of the Chixkasaw Seminaries took her and kept her in the 

seminary until she was ten or twelve yearsold; that he left the Territory 

and took Sarah with him to the State of Texas. After locating in Texas Couch 

treated her asx a slave, When 16 years old she had a bastard child,Henry C. 

Couch or Jones, After that she was married in the State of Texas to a negro 

James Jones, and had by him a number of children whoe,-. names are given. A 

The master finds that Sarah is a full blood;that Henryc.Jones being a bastard 

takes hhe nationality of hit mother. Finds for the admission of all the 

applicants who claim by blood;that those who claim by intermarriage did not 

comply with the marriage laws of the Chi kasav Hat ion;recommends that the 

last named be rejected,Judgemnt accordingly. 

AFFIDAVITSBBFOHE DA#KS COMMISSION. 

MRS. SARAH JONES says that she is about 55 years old; that she was 

born at Tishomingo where she has Jived fclJ her life except a brief residence 

in Texas. That she is a full blood Indian, That she was lawfully married 

to James Jones,a colored man, about 38 years ago, and that she had by him 7 

children,all of whomare now li ving in the Indian Territory. 

E.M.CHEOPPE says that he is a Chickasaw Indian by "blood. That he 

knows Mrs. Sarah Jones,and knows that she is a recognised member of the Chick­

asaw Tribe of Indians, Has known her for forty years during which time she 

has resided in the Indian Territory, 

FANNT3 SIMMS says that she is 56 years old and lives in the Chickas 



Chickasaw Nat ion . Has known Mrs.Sarah Jones for y e a r s . She i s recognized 

as a f u l l blood Chickasaw I n d i a n . She was lav/fully marr ied to James Jones 

and had by sa id marriage 7 chi ldren ,who are one h a l f Chickasaw I n d i a n s 1y b i d 

HENRY HODGE says t ha t he i s 25zyears old and l i v e s in the Chick­

asaw Na t ion . Has nkown Mrs. Sarah Jones for 2 and l / 2 y e a r s . She i s a f u l l 

blood Chickasaw Ind ian and has been recognized as such a l l of he r l i f e . She &. 

was lawful ly married to James Jones and has had by him 7 c h i l d r e n whose names 

a f f i a n t £ i v e s . (Yet a f f i a n t has known her fo oonly tvvo and a h a l f years ) 

A l l of the other test imony i s t ha t of negros and i s signed in b lank . 

No test imony i s e x h i b i t e d in the record to warrant the f a c t s s t a t e d 

by the Master in Chancery in h i s r e p o r t . 

The a p p l i a a n t i s no doubt a negro woman. There i s no test imony 

to show who her ances to r s were ,or to prove t h a t she i s a Chickasaw Indian i f 

i n fac t she i s an r ndian a t a l l . J J 

i 



Mrs* Betsey " v e r s , beiny sworn t e s t i f i e s as fo l lows : 

Bxainlnatlon b# r« Ortwes 

Q.. fh&t i s yo:iv' g iven &}*me? 

A. Bets;/ ' ye^s . 

q Are y 00 fin Ind i an , f u l l - b l o o d : 

A I us three-juart<--' a Indian by b lood , Chiokasaw* 

Q Did you now one ?;-.rson CoUOh, tfhe l ived In the T e r r i t o r y a number of 

} ears ayo9 

A Yes s i r * 

9*. I w i l l get „o'! to s t a t s whether yew ««ers acquainted wi th a g i r l who 

l ived wi th Parson CoAioht by the none of Barah* 

Q Yes s i r , I brow her when shd liweo! w tb Par son Soueh said went to school 

Ml, C o l b e r t ' s J s t i t o t e . X went to school w i t h her ulwre » 

0... i wil3 get you to s t a t s whether or not t ha t Strah i s ths easae Sarah 

who i s l i - ' b i ; , in Arob-or:: now, and i s known as Barah Jones? 

A Yes s i r 1 she i s the satis woxaan; the sa .•• per son • 

Q Who was sha giving wi.tfc at ths t i » s you f i r s t tabs her? 

A With Parson Qouchj the manager of the schools Bha was l i v i n g wi th b i n . 

Q Has she there ^oiny to s choo l 9 

A Ye s B i r . 

Q I w i l l ge t , on to s t a t e wb- thar or not she was known as recognised a s an 

Ind tan 9 

A Yes s i r * 3-s a Chickasaw Ind i an . She must hove been, or she would not 

have been allowed to yo to school there* 

I Did she lQoik l i k e an IndianV 

A Yes S i r1 She looked l ike a f u l l - b l o o d . 

0. Bow lony b.i you yo to sc7X)ol there? 

A I -ent to school there one year* 

0 :'as Sarah there a l l tha t &Uts yo i ry to school? 

A Yes s i r . 

Q. Do you know who brought here t h e r e 9 



A Who brought her there and gare h&r to Pmreon conch9 A nan by the nan 

of Lucu, WHO claimed to be her f a t h e r . 

Q.» Do you knojW what In.-, came of h in af torwares? 

A. He <:ot k i l l e d ) tha t i s a l l I know about h i n . 

$« I&4 you understand her ne the r to be **•*# 'at the t i ne he brought 

Barah Vrivre0 

A Yes, Mr. Couch to ld me her mother was dead. Mrs. QottOh said they had 

t & k e D h er t o v a i s e . 

Q. fhea ; 'oi l e f t th i school did you leave her the re with the Couches9 

A v o s | i r . 

Q. You urd retook they took her off to the Oh ©e taw Na t ion ( and from thr.ro 

to ?oxa»? 

A I never knew of tha t u n t i l she came back to Ardmore, and she to ld iae 

where they took hvr. 

Q You r cognized her here aa the §a«e ftarah who wont to school ,w i th you9 

A. Yea a i r* Bhe did not know me, u n t i l I r an t tip to her and talked to her 

and aakeci her about i t . 

Q Yen a re net r e l a t e d to her in any way a re you, 

A Ko s i r . 

Q, "Q /on know what kind of a preacher Go tie h was* K e t h o d i s t s , B a p t i s t i or 

what? 

<"' Tib fli r • 

Q You vrere just a fclrl then yot irself? 

A Yes s i r , but I can r e c o l l e c t back to those Aayfl v e i l . I remembered. 

Sarah. I knew h^r the f i r s t time I saw risr/ I know then aha i it to 

school a t the Acadamy With u s . 

http://thr.ro


Susan Aioxa rn - r , be ing ewom t e s t i f i e d aa fb l3 >w»: 

Kxa^iination by r . Or no© 3 

Q. A:-- 7 u £.'-quui-i•;• *ui With Sarah Jones 9 

A Yes s i j " . 

Q. HOT.- lotic have ;/ on been acquaintad With her7 

A xhr e r s ince vr- W r e c h i 1 d r a n. 

Q Yon wore c h i l d r e n toge ther? 

A Yea s i r . I knowed hij?- aa quick MI I ae n h e r . I vent up .o he'1" and 

a alee 4 her i f she ias*nt Sarah Pouchi and she said yea* 

•]* She w&e known &e Sarah Couch? 

»J i o n • 

: J fh 6 d 1 <! ha 1 i v a • -vi t h 

A Mr.. Ooueh, a p r e a c h e r . 

Q 7ho 'as Oouch 

A Super!'!tenderit of the Acadei'V* 

Q fii3 he a preacher? 

A Yes s i r , he r a s a p reache r . 

Q. Do ; on know what becarae of Sarah when ahi lef i the academy; •t'l^^hvr 

she waa ta to the Choctaw n a t i o n ; and then to ?exaa? 

A The next t i : .e I hoard from Mr« Oouoh, i t waa the second / e a r of the 

war and he waa l i v i n g in Texas, then. 

Q Uoved from the Ohoetaw flation7 

A Yes s i r , he had wowed bo the Ohoctaw J la t ion, and then went to Texas. 

' . Was Sarah a t the t i n e J on knew her when she U v e a With Parson Oouch 

mown, and recognised as a Chickasaw Indian? 

i Yes s i r . 

I Was she treated iive o^h^r Indian girla at the school? 

i Ye 3 s ir . 

). Do you know how Pouch a e to have her? 

k I suppose her f a t h e r gave her to Hr« Oouoh to ra ieo« x heard he gave 

Mr« Conch f i f t y d o l l a r s , said i t was a l l the money he had, but i t 

wo lid helt> to r a i s e h i a ch i ld . 



You know Bht was t r e a t e d l i k e the o ther Couch c i l d r e n ? 

AYes iiTf and l i k e k r . Hob e r t s o n ' s children.; they hue two orphan c h i l d r e n 

they wai r a i a l n j , k r . Robinson d i d . 

.;. Did Couch take hOT around life* he did the o the r c h i l d r e n 9 Like the 

o ther o :v'V irs of h i a : ' o - i i y v 

A. Yes r , i r , ahfl would > o with hi-u in the bttgffif on v i s i t s . 

'I' Did JTOH biow her MOthsr? 

A lio s i r . 

Q. Did 711 u awor s e a h 0 r fA t h a r 9 

i So s i r i Jus t h ard t a lk of hiw* If I seen h i a I d o ^ t renenber i t . I 

hoard her fa ther waa a ? * r i f f . 

k- '-'hat ki a of aa I riiarj waa sa rah , Choctaw or (k ioka^av'9 

/. r"ve;, always s a i l e d her a Ohlok&saw* 

o. Do you knew th ia Sarah Jones to be &h« same person ss the Indian g i r l 

who l ived with Ocuch known as Sanah* 

A. Yes s i r , she i s thfl sane one . I walked up to her and asked her i f 

she was ' n t Rara Couch. 1 knowed her r i g h t eweyi but she did knew me then 

Q Are /on r e l a t ed to her in any way? 

A No B i r . 
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BEFORE THE HONORABLE COMMISSION TO THE FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. 

In the matter of the application for enrollment in the Chicka­

saw Nation of Sarah Jones, et al. 

Now comes the Chickasaw Nation, by its attorneys, and, 

without waivir^; any exceptions heretofore taken to the applicat­

ion filed herein; and without consenting to, "but denying the 

jurisdiction of this Honorable Commission to pass upon a quest­

ion of citizenship in the Chickasaw Tribe of Indians, presents 

this, its answer to said application, and respectfully represents : 

The Chickasaw Nation alleges that none of the applicants 

herein are entitled to enrollment in the Chickasaw Nation by 

blood or otherwise, and says that each and all of them are now, 

and have at all times been citizens of the United States; and 

that none of the applicants herein have any evidence which shows 

to this Commission that they are entitled to enrollment in said 

Nation; it further i alleges the fact to be that the petition 

of the applicants herein is entirely without foundation in proof 

and fact. The Chickasaw Nation offers, in support of the alle­

gations herein contained, the exhibits hereto attached, and ask 

that they be considered as a part of this answer. 

WHEREFORE, it prays that the application herein be 

dismissed, and will ever pray, etc., 

THE CHICKASAW NATION 

By Its Attorneys. 



In the matter of the application of Sarah Jones, et al., for 

enrollment in the Chickasaw Nation: 

Indian Territory) 

Chickasaw Nation) AFFIDAVIT OF CHARLES I). CARTER. 

Before me, the undersigned authority, on this day 

personally appeared Charles D. Carter, who "being first duly 

sworn, on oath deposes and says: My name is Charles D. Cater; 

I am 28 years of age, and am a Chickasaw Indian by blood; I was 

born and raised in the Indfci Territory; my present residence is 

Ardmore, Ind. Ter., Chickasaw Nation; have been Superintendent 

of Public Instruction for the Chickasaw Nation, and have held 

other positions of trust in the Chickasaw Nation. About two or 

three years ago, the applicant Sarah Jones came to me, and wanted 

me to represent her in establishing her right to citizenship in 

the Indian Territory; I asked her what Nation she claimed to 

be a citizen of, aid she stated that she was a citizen of the 

Creek Nation; that, a good while ago, the Indians used to inter-

ma ry with the negroes, and that she was the issue of one of 

such marriages. I explained to her that the Chickasaws never 

interaarried with negroes, but that I understood that the Creeks 

had; she said ;aa& yes that was the Nation that she was a citi­

zen of. 

(Signed) C. D. Carter. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on this the 23rd day of 

October, 1896. 

(T. W. Adams, 

Notary Public. 

(SEAL) 



State of Texas) 
County of Cooke) 

The affiant J . M. Wilson, after being duly sworn says: 

I am fifty four years of age, live in Cooke County, 

Texas; have lived in said County twelve years. 

I am acquainted with Sarah Jones of Ardmore, I . T., have 

known hersince 1855. I first saw her at Perryville, Choctaw 

Nation. She was then held as a slave by Esekial Couch, who was 

rtnning an Indian School at said Perryville. Said Couch was a 

missionary to the Indians. About two years afterwards Rev. Couch 

mffvqdto Grayson County, Texas, and brou$it this woman with him. 

She was about fourteen years old when I first knew hers- She was 

alave until she was freed in 1865, and belonged to said 

otiQji up to said time. Said Sarah Jones looked like an Indian, 

was generally reputed to be a half breed Choctaw Indian. Thds 

s claimed by her master who owned her from childhood. She 
c 

hks iao&x lived in Cooke and Grayson Counties, Texas, ever since 

she came to Texas, and has removed from Texas only recently. 

(Signed) J. M. Wilson. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 4th day of 

November, A. D., 1896. 

R. R. Bell, 

(SEAL) Notary Public in and for Cooke County, Texas. 
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RF5WK TPK COMMISSION TO THE 

wvi omliXFS) TRIBES. 
4 i 

RAMI! J0JI38, KT AL.t 

CHICKASAW NATION. 

Corny the Chickasaw Nation rind the Choctaw Nation# % 

lifieldi SfcMurhy & Cornish,! attorneys, and move that certain 

entr ies appearing upon the 18% GitijMnthlp Ooc&et purporting to 

deny Chickaiaw citizenship to Sarah Jones, *?t a l , ho cancelled, 

and for oauM, s ta te : 

That Chickasaw citizenship was not denied such persona by 

the Commission to tha vivo oivil iaea Tribes under the Act of Juno 

10, 1&96J that the onlv record of afty consiaeration of the a . p l i -

cations of §uoh pet»|fti I t a pencil raeiaorandiaa thereof as foliovtr. 

•Kfigra was never owneu fy Chickasawa"; that the Commission has 

no power at this time, and had no ptjgff on Ifcq 16, IQOfli- to deny 

Chickasaw citizenship to such persons, and to enter the aarae upon 

the 1896 Citizenship Docket, nunc pro tune, i f otherwise* 

A oepy of auch entries entereu nunc pro time on May 1 , 

1900, as of Septeiribor 9f 1896, i i kWtito attached and marked 

"Fjdrfblt A". 

IffB 3RXCMUWflf KAKO . 

rm CBWTJW MUSK, 
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BEFORE THE COMMISSION TO THE 

FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. 

SARAH JONES, ET AL., 

-VS-

CHICKASAW NATION. 

MOTION TO HAVE TmOW ENTRY CANCELLED. 

Come the Chickasaw Nation and the Choctaw Nation, by 

Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish, attorneys, and move that certain 

entries appearing upon the 1896 Citizenship Docket purporting to 

deny Chickasaw citizenship to Sarah Jones, et al, be cancelled, 

and for cause, state: 

That Chickasaw citizenship was not denied such persons by 

the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes under the Act of June 

10, 1896; that the only record of any consideration of the appli­

cations of such persons is a pencil memorandum thereof as follows: 

"Negro was never owned by Chickasaws"; that the Commission has 

no power at this time, and had no power on May 15, 1900 to deny 

Chickasaw citizenship to such persons, and to enter the same upon 

the 1896 Citizenship Docket, nunc pro tunc, or otherwise. 

A copy of such entries entered nunc pro tunc on May 15, 

1900, as of September 9, 1896, is hereto attached and marked 

"Exhibit A". 

THE CHICKASAW NATION. 

THE CHOI 

As 

\n J 



- -

" E X H I B I T A w. 

No. 28£ 
Sarah Jones, et al., Sept. 8, 1896: Original application filed. 

(Cruce, Cruce &Cruce). 
Sarah Jones, Armstead Jones, and Lucy 

vs Jones, his wife; Tom Jones, Henry Jones, 
and Maggie Jones, his wife; Ida Jones, 

Chickasaw Nation. Haggle Powell, and Jesse Powellx her 
husband; Rosa Powell, their child; 
Edward Jones, Armstead Jones, Hubbetecker 
Jones, child of James Jones, child of 
Henry C. Jones. 

Answer filed. 

Nov. 23, 1896: application denied, and 
endorsed: "Negro was never owned "by 
Chickasaws". 

Appealed. 

March 8, 1898: Judgment reversed and 
Sarah Jones, Maw Powell, Rosa Powell, 
Armstead Jones, Edward Jones, Birdy 
Jones, Isam Jones, James Jones, Hubbe-
tecker Jones, Tom Jones, Ida Jones, 
Henry C. Couch, and Alfred Couch, were 
admitted as citizens of the Chickasaw 
Nation TK&KB by judgment of the U. S. 
Court, Southern District, Indian Terri­
tory. 

January 15, 1900: Judgment heretofore 
rendered set aside by order of court 
for want of jurisdiction. 

May 15, 1900: Docketed and entered nunc 
pro tunc, as of September 9, 1896. 

Tarns Bixby, 
Cornmr. 



Chickasaw Nation. 

No. 284. 
Sarah Jones, et a l . , Sept. 8, 1896. Original application fil^d 

(Cruce, Cruce &Cruce). 
Sarah Jones, Arrastead Jones, and 

vs Lucy Jones, his wife; Tom Jones, 
Henry Jones, and Maggie Jones, n i l 
wife; Ida Jones, Maggie Powell, and 
Jesse Powell, her husband; Rosa 
Powell, the i r child; Edward Jones, 
Armstead Jones, Hubbetecker Jones, 
child of James Jones, child of Henry 
0. Jones. 

Answer f i led. 

Nov. 23. 1896. Application denied and 
endorsed "Negro was never owned by 
Chickasaw". 

Appealed. 

March 8, 1898. Judgment reversed, and 
Sarah. Jones, Mary Powell, Rosa Powell 
Arrastead Jones, Edward Jones, 
Birdy Jones, Isam Jones, James Jones 
Hubbetecker Jones, Tom Jones, Ida 
Jones, Henry C. Couch and Alfred 
Couch were admitted as citizens of 
the Chickasaw Nation by judgaent of 
U. S. Court. Southern d i s t r i c t , 
Indian Territory. 

Jan. 15, 19Q0. Judgment heretofore ren­
dered set aside by order of Court, 
for want of jur isdict ion. 

May 15, 1900. Docketed and entered 

nunc pro tunc as of Sept. 8, 1896. 

Tarns Bixby, 

Commr. 



DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 

COMMISSION TO THE FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. 

I , Tarns Bixby, Acting Chairman of the Commission to the 

Five Civilized Trihes, do hereby certify that the foregoing and 

attached paper is a t rue, accurate and correct copy of the docket 

entry as i t appears upon the citizenship Docket of th i s Commi­

ssion. 

Witness ray hand and seal t h i s 8th day of June, 1900. 

Tarns Bixby, 

Acting Chairman• . , ; 
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SUMMONS. 

United States of America, 

Indian Territory, 

Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court. 

^ss 

The President of the United States of America, 
T o t h e U n i t e d S t a t e s M a r s h a l for t h e I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , S o u t h e r n D is t r i c t , 

G R E E T I N G : 

You are hereby Commanded to Summons P. S. Moseley, Governor of 

the Chickasaw Nat ion , to a n s w e r on behalf of said nation, in twen ty days af ter the se rv ice of th is 

s u m m o n s upon him, as Governor of said Nat ion a compla in t i tv-Equi ty filed aga ins t t he 

Choctaw and Chickasaw nation in the Choc taw and Chickasaw Ci t i zensh ip Cour t , in the Ind ian T e r -

^.^iMJkjlAAdJJm^- , bv S&OAXA^...U^ &tJ^ r i to rv , a t 

and warn him tha t upon his fa i lure as said Governor to a n s w e r on behalf of said nat ion, the 

complaint will be taken for confessed, and you will make r e t u r n of the s u m m o n s i n s t a n t e r ; 

And you a re f u r t h e r commanded to notify said P . S. Moseley Governor aforesaid , 

t h a t t he p a p e r s , files and p roceed ings in the case ot 

P i l e No 2J>. in t he D i s t r i c t C o u r t for t h e ^ D i s t r i c t of the 

Ind ian T e r r i t o r y , has been t r a n s f e r r e d to the Choctaw and Chickasaw Ci t i zensh ip C o u r t , and tha t 

the cert i f icate of the c lerk of said cou r t for said 

has been a t t ached the re to . 

YOLAA*^. D i s t r i c t , Indian T e r r i t o r y , 

W I T N E S S the Honorab le S p e n c e r B. Adams , Chief J u d g e , 

W a l t e r L . Weave r and H e n r y S. Poote , Assoc ia te 

J u d g e s , and the Seal thereof, at Sou th McAles t e r , 

Ind ian T e r r i t o r y , aforesaid , th i s f!^..Q. 

day of March A. D., 1903. 

. 

. 
Bv 

buk /^...^jx^A^Jj^ .. C le rk . 

Depu ty . 
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BEFORE THE HONOMBLE BAKES COMMISSION. 

Sarah Jones, et al.f Plaintiffs.) 

vs J CLAIM TO CITIZENSHIP. 

Chickasaw Nation, Defendant. ) 

mil • 
Affidavit of Ufa. W. Arnold, serving copy on Crovernor, . . . 1 

Application, 2- 3 

Affidavit of Mrs. Sarah Jones, 4 
11 of E. M. Cheoppe, I 
n of Fannie Siras, 6 
n of Henry Hodge, T 

A. C. CKUCE, 

Attorney for Applicants. 

V 7 W N ' * l r » 

•£>* f,... | i •*, ... . ;,?,.;/*', 



Indian Territory) 
Chickasaw Nation) 

The affiant, Win. W. Arnold, says that he is over 21 

years of age, and is not related to any of the applicants in 

the application of Sarah Jones, et al., for citizenship vs the 

Chickasaw Nation, nor is he in any way interested in the pro­

secution of said claim; and that he did on the 5th day of Sep­

tember, 1896, deliver to P. S. Moseley, Governor of the Chickasaw 

Nation, a true copy of the application of Sarah Jones, et al., 

vs the Chickasaw Nation; a true copy of the affidavit of Mrs. 

Sarah Jones, taken on the 4th day of September, 1896; a true 

copy of the affidavit of E. M. Cheoppe, taken on the 31st day of 

August, 1896; a true copy of the affidavit of Fanny Simms, taken 

on the 3rd day of September, 1896, and a true copy of the affi­

davit of Henry Hodge, taken on the 3rd day of September, 1896. 

(SIGNED) W. W. Arnold. 

Subscribed and sworn to hefore me this the 7th day of September,1896 

(SIGNED) T. B. Johnson, 

Notary Public Southern 
(SEAL) District, I. I. 

• 



BEFORE THE HONORABLE DAWES COMMISSION. 

IN RE 

Sarah Jones, Armstead Jones, and Lucy Jones, his wife, 
Isom Jones, James Jones, and Alma Jones, his wife, 
Tom Jones, Henry Jones, and Maggie Jones, his wife, 
Ida Jones, Mary Powell, and Jesse Powell, her husband, 
Rosa Powell, tneir child, Edward Jones and Birdy 
Jones, children of Armstead Jones, Huhbetecker Jones, 
child of James Jones, Alfred Jones, child of Henry 
C. Jones. 

versus 

T H E C H I C K A S A W N A T I O N . 

A P P L I C A T I O N . 

The applicants would respectfully represent and show 

to th is Honorable Commission, that the applicant, Mrs. Sarah 

Jones, is a full blood Chickasaw Indian, and that she was duly 

and lawfully ma?rried on the day of , 18 , to one 

James Jones, and had by said marriage seven children, whose 

names are: Mary Jones, Armstead Jones, Isom Jones, James Jones, 

Tom Jones, Henry C. Jones, and Ida Jones; a l l of whom are now 

lining in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, and are one-

half Chickasaw Indians by blood. 

They say that the said Mary Jones was duly and lawfully 

married to the applicant Jesse Powell, and have by said marriage 

one child, whose name is the applicant Rosa Powell, and that Rosa 

Powell is now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, 

and is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married in the 

Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to Lucy Sinins, and have by 

said marriage two children, whose names are the applicants 

Edward Jones and Birdy Jones*, both of whom are now living in 

the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, and are one fourth 

Chickasaw Indians by blood. 

That James Jones was duly and lawfully married in 

the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to Alma Clemons, and have 

by said marriage one child, whose name is the applicant Hubbe-



tecker Jones, who is now living in the Indian Territory, Chicka­

saw Nation, and is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian "by blood. 

That Henry C. Jones was duly and lawfully married in 

the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to Maggie Morton, and 

have by said marriage one child, whose name is the applicant 

Alfred Jones, who is now living in the Indian Territory, Chick­

asaw Nation, and is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That by reason of the facts herein alleged, and the 

blood therein existing, all of the applicants herein are members 

of the Chickasaw Tribe of Indians by blood and marriage, and are 

entitled to be enrolled as such. 

WHEREFORE, they pray that they and each of them he 

enrolled as members of the Chickasaw Tribe of Indians, and for 

all other proper relief. 

(Signed) A.C.Cruce and C.B.Douglas, 

Attorneys for Applicants. 

Indian Territory) 
Chickasaw Nation) 

The Affiant Sarah Jones, says that she is one of the 

applicants herein, and that the statements made in the fore­

going application are true. 
her 

(Signed) Sarah X Jones. 
mark 

Subscribed and swcrrn to before me fckix by Sarak Jones, t h i s 

the 4th day of September, 1896. 
T. 3 . Johnson, 

Notary Public. 
(SEAT,) Southern Dist. I . T. 

:j?|* 1 •"••** * ""J^NfJL *"' P "* • 



Indian Territory] 
Chickasaw Nation, 

The affiant Mrs, Sarah Jones, after being first duly 

sworn, says: 

That she is about 65 years of age, and was born at 

Tishomingo, Chickasaw Nation, Indian Territory, where she has 

lived all her life, except a brief residence in Texas,and that 

she is a full blood Chickasaw Indian. 

She says that she was duly and lawfully married to 

James Jones, who was a colored roan, about 38 years ago, and that 

she has had by her marriage with said James Jones, seven children 

all of whom are now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw 

Nation, and whose names are: Mary Jones, Arrastead Jones, Isom 

Jones, James Jones, Tom Jones, Henry C. Jones, and Ida Jones. 

She says that her daughter Mary Jones was duly and law­

fully married in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to 

Jesse Powell, and have by said marriage one child, whose name is 

Rosa Powell. 

That her son Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully 

married in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to Lucy Simms 

and have by said marriage two children, whose names are 

Edward Jones, apl Birdy Jones. 

That her son James Jones was duly and lawfully married 

in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to Alma demons, and 

have by said marriage one child, whose name is Hubbetecker Jones. 

That her son Henry C. Jones was duly and lawfully marr 

ied in the Indian Territory, Chickasaw Nation, to Maggie Morton 

and have by said marriage one child, whose name is Alfred Jones. 

She says that she has been known and recognized all her 

life as a full blood Chickasaw Indian, and has lived in the Chick 

asav/ Nation ever since she was born, and now so resides, and that 

all of her children above named are now living in the Indian 

Territory, Chickasaw Nation, and have so lived all their lives. 

(SIGNED) Sarah X Jones 
her mark-

Subscribed and sworn to before me by Sarah Jones, this the 4th 
$£ day of ( September, 1896. T. B. Johnson, 
ffe-'; ;̂'k \ , Notary Public. 
fort* .....•...•"'''' / it * 



Indian Territory) 
Southern District) 

E. M. Scheoppe, being duly sworn, on oath sa#s: 

I am a citizen of the Chickasaw Nation, Ind. Ter., by 

blood. I know Mrs. Sarah Jones, and know that she is a member 

of the Chickasaw Tribe of Indians by blood, and has been 

recognised as such. I am familiar withe family history of 

Sarah Jones, and have been for a period of forty years, during 

which time she has resided in the Indian Territory. 

(Signed) C. M. Cheoppe. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me a Notary Public in and for 

the Southern Bistrict, Indian Territory, this the 31 day of 

August, 1896. 

T. B. Johnson, 

(SEAL) Notary Public Southern Dist. I. T 



Indian Territory) 
Chickasaw Nation) 

The affiant Fannie Siras, after being f i r s t duly 

sworn, says: 

I am 56 years of age, and live in the Indian Territory 

Chickasaw Nation, and have so lived for four years, and am a 

citizen of the United States. I am acquainted with Mrs. 

Sarah Jones, and have known her for 25 years; she is a full blood 

Chickasaw Indian, and has been known and recognised as such all 

her life. She was duly and lawfully married to Jones, and 

has by said marriage seven children, whose names are: Mary Jones 

Armstead Jones, Isom Jones, James Jones, Tom Jones, Henry C. 

Jones, and Ida Jones; all of whom are now living in the Indian 

Territory, Chickasaw Nation, and are one half Chickasaw Indians 

by blood. 

The said Mary Jones was duly and lawfully married to 

Jessie Powell, and they have by said marriage one child, Rosa 

Powell, who is a one fourth Indian by blood. 

Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married to Lucy 

Sims, and has by said marriage two children, whose names are: 

Edward Jones and Birdy Jones, who are about one fourth Chickasaw 

Indians by blood. 

That the said James Jones was duly and lawfully married 

to Alma Clemons, and has by said marriage one child, Hubbetecker 

Jones, who is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That Henr C. Jones was duly and lawfully married to 

Maggie Morton, and had by said marriage one child, whose name is 

Alfred Jones, and whoi is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That all of said parties are now living in the Chicka­

saw Nation, Indian Territory. her 
Fanny X Sims 

mark 

Subscribed and sworn to before me a Notary Public this the 5th 

day of September, 1896. 
T. B. Johnson, 

(SEAL) Notary Public Southern Dist. I. T. 



Indian Territory) 
Chickasaw Nation) 

The affiant Henry Hoage, after f i r s t "being £ duly sworn, 

says: I am 25 years of sge and l ive in the Indian Territory, 

Chickasaw Nation, and have so lived for 2-1/2 years, and am l i v ­

ing there now. 

I am acquainted with Mrs. Sarah Jones, and have known her 

for 2-1/2 years. She is a full blood Chickasaw Indian, and has 

been known and recognised as such a l l her l i f e . She was duly 

and lawfully married to Jones, and has by said marriage seven 

children, whose names are: Mary Jones, Armstead Jones, Isom fcV 

Jones, James Jones, Tom Jones, Henry C. Jones and Ida Jozies; afif . 

of whom are now living in the Indian Territory, Chickasa* Nation* 

and are one half Chickasaw Indians by blood. V 

The said Mary Jones was duly and lawfully married t a Jesse 

Powell, and they have by said marriage one child, Rosa N p l l , f*. 

who is a one fourth Indian by blood. K^ 

A, 
Armstead Jones was duly and lawfully married to m% and 

has by said marriage two children, whose names are Edward Jones, 

and Birdy Jones, who are oijie fourth Chickasaw Indians by blood. 

That the said James Jones was duly and lawfully married to 

Almond demons, and has by said marriage one child, Hubbetecker 

Jones, who is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian If blood. 

That Henruy 0. Jones was duly and lawfully married to 

and has by said marriage one child, whose name is Alfred Jones, 

and who is a one fourth Chickasaw Indian by blood. 

That a l l of the said part ies except Henry C. Jones and his 

son Alfred Jones, are now living in the Chickasaw Nation Indian 

Territory. 
Henry Hodge. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this the 3 day of September, 1896 

T. B. Johnson, 

Notary Public Southern District I. T. 
(SEAL) 
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In the case o ' Sarah Jones,et al,I was instructed to see J.M. 

Wilson of Coalgate. I saw*/ Mr. Wilson and took from him the affida­

vit appended hereto. I regard him as our most important witness in 

that cas4. 

[\ . ̂ jn * ^.^v o 
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South MeAlester, Indian Territory, 
June 26, 1903. 

Sarah Jonea, e t a l., 

»»« No. T-74. Southern District, ?8. 

Chickasaw Nati on. 

LETTER OF INSTRUCTION. 

To . 

Papers in the above entitled cause are herewith 

delivered and you are directed to make an investigation 

thereof alonp- the lines Indicated and return the same 

with your written report and exhibits attached thereto 

at the earliest possible date. 

QT'ESTION OF JURISDICTION. 

There is now pending disposition before the 

Commission to the Five Civilised Tribes a motion of 

the Attorneys for the Choctaw and Chi cVasaw Nations to 

have certain entries made upon the 1896 Chicl-asaw 

Citizenship Docket cancelled. 

The theory upon which this motion is pre­

sented to the Commission is that the application of 

Sarah Jones, et al., for citizenship in the ChicVasaw 



2 

Nation ?«ras never acted upon by the Dawes Commission, 

and that the alleged endorsement of November 23, 1896, 

upon the face of the application, "Negro was never owned 

by Chi•?asaws", was not a valid judgment, but was equiva­

lent to a dismissal of the application for want of 

jurisdiction. 

The case of Sarah Jones, et al., versus the 

Chickasaw Nation was never placed upon the Citizenship 

Docket of the Dawes Commission of applications received 

under the provision of the act o? Congress approved 

June 10, 1896, until May 15, 1900, when the following 

entry was made; 

"Docketed and entered, nunc pro tunc, as of 
September 9, 1896. Tarns Eixby, Commissioner." 

.PR0CEBTTRE BEFORE U.S. COURT, SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IN­

DIAN TERRITORY. 

On January 8, 1897, W.I. Cruce, Attorney for 

Sarah Jones, et al., prayed an appeal from the decision 

of the Dawes Comrrr'snicr. in this case to the United States 

Court for the Southern District of Indian Territory, 

which prayer was on the same day allov/ed and the Com­

mission directed to transmit to the ClerK of the Court 

all of the original papers filed, used and considered 

by the Commission in the trial and consideration of 

said cause. 



s 

In accordance with the above order of the 

Court, the Dawes Commission transmitted the original 

petition and exhibits in the case of Sarah Jones, et al., 

versus OMc^aMf Nation, endorsed: "Negro was never 

owned by Chickasaw," and which case did not appear 

upon the Chickasaw Citizenship Docket of the Dawes 

Commi a si on. 

The alleged notice of denial by the Dawes 

Commission is undated and no page or case number is 

referred to, the notice being signed: "H.M. Jacoway, Jr., 

Secretary, By Henry Stroup." 

Prom this alleged decision of the Commission 

the appeal v/as tafcen to the United States Court and on 

March 8, 1898, judgment was rendered reversing the 

decision of the Dawes Commission and admitting to 

Chiclasaw citizenship the parties included in the origi­

nal application. 

On January IE, 1900, upon motion made by the 

attorneys for the CbicVasaw Nation in open court, and 

after due notice to the applicants, an order was entered 

vacating and setting aside and expunging from the records 

of the court the .judgment theretofore rendered March 8, 

1898, on the theory that the court had never acquired 

jurisdiction in the case on appeal from a decision of the 



D a we s C omul 8 si on • 

May 2, 1900, the attorneys for the applicants 

in this case filed their motion with the United States 

Court to tave the original papers in the case and the 

judgment of the Dawes Commission certified to the court. 

This motion was allowed and the Dawes Commission was 

directed to transmit the application, answer, proof, 

judgment and all papers and orders that may have been 

made in said cause. 

On May 15, 1900, the Commission did transmit 

all papers in the case, together with a certificate of 

the Acting Chairman of the Commission showing that on 

May 15, 1900, the following entry was made upon the 1896 

Chichasaw Citizenship Docket, "Docketed and entered, 

nunc pro tunc, as ef September 9, 1896." 

A new trial of the case was subsequently had 

before the Oilted States Court and on May 2, 1901, 

judgment was rendered admitting Sarah Jones, and the 

other parties applicants to citizenship In the Chich-

a saw Natl on. 

This latter judgment was vacated by the decree 

of the Choctaw-Chic>asaw citizenship Court of December 

17, 1902 in the Riddle case. 



Parties named in the petition for writ of 

error to the Choctaw-Chickasaw Citizenship Court are 

identical with tho names appearing in the judgments of 

the United States Court of May 2, 1901. 

CLAIM OF APPLICANTS. 

The applicants in this case are Sarah Jones 

and her direct lineal descendants in the first and second 

generations. The applicant, Sarah Jones, claims that 

she is a full blood Chickasaw Indian, 86 years of age, 

born at Tishomingo, Indian Territory, and was raised by 

a missionary in the Chickasaw Nation by the name of Couch, 

and was known by the name of Sarah Couch; that about the 

time of the beginning of the civil war Couch removed from 

the Indian Territory to the State of Texas and carried 

the aglleant with him; that she so remained in Texas 

until her return to the Chickasaw Nation a short time 

prior to the submission of her application. 

While the applicant does not herself set up any 

such claim, the testimony of witnesses in her behalf 

is to the effect that she is the grand daughter of a 

Chiĉ asaY/ 7/oman by the name of Betsy Blackwater. 
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CONTENTION OF THH CKICXASAY' NATION. 

Now the theory of this cane Is that the 

applicant, Sarah. Jones, was a negro slave bought in 

northern. Texas by a missionary named Couch, and by him 

brought to the Indian Territory; that she is not possess­

ed of any Chickasaw blood and if having any Indian 

blood at all, it is impossible to determine from what 

tribe she derived th# same, as her mother and father 

are unknown. We are of the further opinion that such 

testimony as has been submitted by the applicant is 

fraudulent and that where affidavits and depositions were 

obtained the witnesses had no knowledge of the facts 

testified to, or their testimony was secured by misrep­

resentation. 

TIIE EVIDENCE. 

SARAH JONES, the principal applicant, in her 

exparte affidavit of September 4, 1896, alleges that 

she was born at Tishomingo, Indian Territory, where she 

has lived all of her lJfe except a brief residence in 

Te^as; that 38 years ago she was married to James Jones, 

a colored man, by whom she had the children who are 

applicants in the case. 

No investigation of the testimony of this 

applicant is necessary, as her affidavit is but a 

reiteration of the allegation In the original petition. 



E.M. SCHOEPPE, in her ex parte affidavit of 

August 31, 1896, alleges that she is a citizen by blood 

of the Chickasaw Nation, knows Sarah Jones, and knows 

that she is a Chickasaw Indian by blood and has been 

recognized as such; is familiar with the family history 

of Sarah Jones and has Known her for forty years, during 

which time she has resided in the Indian Territory. 

Our theory that this affidavit is fraudulent 

is confirmed by a statement recently secured by our Mr. 

Hchardson from Elizabeth M. Schoeppe, wherein she 

states that Sarah Jones is a negro, was a slave when she 

first Knew her and was Known as Sarah Couch; that she 

belonged to Parson Couch, a missionary, who bought her 

from an Indian. Mrs. Schoeppe then states that various 

attempts have been made to secure her testimony to the 

effect that Sarah Jones was a Chic>asa.w Indian. V/e 

believe the statement heretofore secured is sufficient 

to rebut the original affidavit of this witness and no 

further investigation is therefore necessary. 

FANNIE SIMMS, in her ex parte affidavit of 

September 3, 1896, alleges that she is 56 years of age, 

lives in the ChicVasaw Nation, is a citizen of the United 

States, and has been a resident of the Indian Territory 

for -four years. 
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She is acquainted with the applicant, Sarah Jones, 

whom she has Known for years. Sarah Jones is a full-

blood ChicKasaw Indian and has been Known and recognized 

as such all her life. The affiant then recites the 

marriage of Sarah Jones and gives the names of her 

descendants. 

Our theory of this affidavit is that it is 

fraudulent in so far as the witness alleges that she 

Kn ows Sarah J one s to be a fu11 b1ood Ch 1 c Ka s aw Ind1an 

and has Known her for years and that she has been recog­

nized as a ChicKasaw all of her life. The affiant only 

claims to have resided in the Indian Territory four 

years. The applicant, Sarah Jones, alleges she has 

lived in the Chickasaw Nation all of her l"fe with the 

exception of a short time spent in Texas. We believe 

that- if the affiant has Known the applicant nearly all 

of her life that the acquaintance must have been in the 

State ©f Texas where Sarah Jones was owned by Couch 

and hell In slavery. In the absence of the residence 

of the aslant, it is impracticable to advise you of her 

present location; you will, however, endeavor to as­

certain the present location of Pannle S1mms and obtain 

from her a statement or counter-affidavit setting forth 

the manner in which this original affidavit was procured, 

and specifically setting forth the time and place that 
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she first became acquainted with the applicant, and how 

and where she first obtained the information that "she 

is a full blood Chickasaw Indian.tt 

It is probable that this affiant lives come-

where in the neighborhood of Ardmore as her affidavit in 

1896 was executed in the Southern District of the In­

dian Territory, before T.B. Johnson, a Notary Public. 

HENRY HODGES in hi s ex parte affidavit of 

September 2, 1896, alleges that he is 2c years of age 

and has been a resident of the Chiclasaw Nation for two 

and a half years, during which time he lias known Mrs. 

Sarah Jones; that she is a full blood Chickasaw Indian 

and has been Known and recognized as such all her life; 

the affiant then gives the names of the cli Idren and 

other descendants of Sarah Jones. 

The testimony of this witness is so absurd 

as not to warrant any investigation. How a man 25 

years of age and who has only Kno.vn a woman two and 

a half years can testify as to ho?/ she has been recog­

nized and considered all of her l̂ fe is impossible of 

comprehension. There is only one theory in regard to 

th.ls affidavit; that whatever the witness Knows in re­

gard to the applicant is entirely hearsay and has been 

gathered by him during his residence in the Indian Terri­

tory subsequent to 1894. We do not consider the affi-
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davit of sufficient materiality to warrant any inves­

ts nation . 

G. BRUNSR in his deposition of January 28, 1901, 

testifies that he Is 66 years of age and has lived in 

the Indian Territory all of his 111%; knew a missionary 

who ran an academy school near Stonewall, whose name 

was Couch; that he had living with him an Indian girl 

named r;arah; that Couch went to Texas and carried the 

girl with him. 

The deposition of thin witness la only of 

value to the applicant in so far as he testifies that 

Sarah was an Indian girl, as he does not allege that she 

was a Chlciasaw and merely states that she looked like 

an Indian, and we do not consider the testimony of 

sufficient value to warrant any investigation. 

PHILLIP STEVENSON in ris deposition of January 

20, 1901, testifies that he is 73 years of age, came from 

Mississippi when about five years old and has lived in 

the Indian Territory ever since; knew Parson Couch when 

he was living at Pleasant Grove, and at that time he had 

living with him a Chic^asa?; girl by the name of Sarah; 

that he got Sarah from an old lady named Betsy Blackwater 
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a full blood Chickasaw who was the grandmother of the 

applicant, Sarah Jones. 

This deposition was entirely an ex parte 

procedure and It in our theory that the witness knew 

absolutely nothing in regard to the facts testified to; 

the questions are all leading, and we do not see how 

the witness is able to identify Betsy Blaekwater as the 

grandmother of the applicant when he confesses entire 

ignorance as to her parentage. You will, however, 

endeavor to secure from this witness a counter-affida­

vit or statement as to his specific knowledge of Sarah 

Jones and ft&T relationship to the alleged Chickasaw wo­

man, Betsy Blackwater. 

TOM POLAN, on January 28, 1901, testified 

that he was 60 yearn of age and knew a Parson Couch who 

ran a school before the war; that he had living with 

him an Indian girl by the name of Sarah, who was the 

grand daughter of a full blood Indian named Betsy Black-

water. 

The testimony of this witness is practically 

the same as that of Phillip Stevenson and you will se­

cure a statement from him along the lines indicated in 

the Stevenson investigation. 



12 

J. SHOALS on January 28, 1901, testified that 

he was 80 years of age, cane from Mississippi with the 

Indians and has lived in the Chicl-asaw Nation ever 

since; "knew Parson Couch who taught school and lent* 

that he had a girl living with him by the name of* Sarah, 

who was the grand daughter of Betsy Blac>water, a full 

blood Chickasaw Indian; that at the close of the war 

Parson Couch went to Texas and carried Sarah with him. 

The testimony of this witness is practically 

the same as that of two -foregoing witnesses, and in the 

Investigation thereof you will proceed as heretofore 

lnd1cated. 

STTSAN AliEXANDffR on February 6, 1901, testified 

that she had been acquainted with Sarah Jones since 

they wsrs children; that she lived when a child with a 

preacher named Couch, and was at that time known and 

recognized as a Chickasaw Indian; affiant has heard 

that applicant's father gave Mr. Couch $50.00 to help 

raise the child, but. is in ignorance as to who her 

father was; Sarah was carried to Texas with Couch during 

the civil war, but apparently lost trace of her from 

that time until her apHcation for citizenship. 

Our theory of this testimony is that it was 

procured without any Knowledge by the witness of the 

facts testified to; that she had been previously coached; 

thf= mifistinnci nno a l l "l «nri1 n c . nnrl thm Drocedure e n t i r e l y 



13 

ex parte. You will endeavor to locate this witness 

and obtain from her a counter-affidavit or statement 

specifically setting forth her Knowledge of Sarah Jones 

and especially how she is able to identify the present 

applicant as the girl that she Knew forty years ago. 

MRS. BSTSEv MYERS testifies that she is a 

three-quarters blood Chickasaw Indian and Knew Parson 

Couch, who lived in the Territory a number of years 

ago; Knew a girl that lived with him by the name of 

Sarah, who was a ChlcKasaw Indian and had the appear­

ance of a full blood; witness testifies that she went 

to school to Parson Couch with Sarah; that Sarah was 

brought to Couch by a man named Lucu, who claimed to 

be her father; that Lucu was afterwards Killed and wit­

ness also understood that Sarah's mother was dead at the 

tine Lucu brought her to Couch; that when she left school 

Sarah was still living with Couch, but never Knew of 

her again until she recently saw her in Ardrnore where 

she recognized her as the same girl that she went to 

school with, forty years ago. 

The fraudulency and unreliability has hereto­

fore been demonstrated by a statement of J.M. Perry 

which will be found with the papers in this case. Mr. 

Perry states that he recently saw Petsey Myers in Ardrnore 
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in company with a representative of the Chi chasaw Nation 

and that the witness then made the following statement 

in regard to the citizenship claim of Sarah Jones: 

"That before the war she attended an Indian 
school at Stonewall run by a missionary named 
Conch; that while there a man who belonged to some 
tribe of Indians the name of which I do not now 
remember, but who was not a Chickasaw, brought a 
girl there claimed by him to be his and gave her 
over to the control of Rev. Couch; that she saw 
this girl and Knew her only while at school; 
that she had no Knowledge of this girl or of any 
of her maternal ancestors." 

Mrs. Myers then stated that these were the 

only facts that she Knew in the case and all that she 

intended to testify to, and that if her testimony as 

transcribed is different it was a mistake, and done with­

out her permission or authority. The witness absolutely 

refused to maKe an affidavit to this effect, and it is 

presumed it will be useless to attempt to secure any such 

at this time. No further investigation is therefore 

necessary. 

The mont remarkable feature of the entire case 

is the entire silence of the record In regard to the 

parentage of the applicant, Sarah Jones. Our theory, as 

heretofore expressed, is that the applicant is a negro 

and was held by Couch, as a slave during his residence 

in the Chiclasaw Nation and the State of Texas. 
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We are informed that this theory can he substantiated 

hy competent witnesses who Knew the applicant in the 

State of Texas. You will, theisfore, secure from the 

following named persons residing in Grayson and Cook 

Counties, Texas, affidavits as to their specific knowl­

edge of the applicant, Sarah Jones; 

Dr. Blasingame, Sandusky, Texas, 
Dr. Armstrong, " • 
Lucas Butts, Dexter, • 
J.P. Marshall, • • 
Eland Bennett, Whltesboro, " 

In the making of this investigation, you will 

bear in mind the oral and written instructions heretofore 

given you, and direct your attention specifically to 

the question of the negro blood and the holding in 

slavery of the applicant. It is possible that in the 

course of the investigation information will be ob­

tained which will warrant your seeing additional wit­

nesses. You are, therefore, authorized and directed 

to further proceed in the investigation without first 

returning to or reporting to this office for further 

and more specific directions. 

Very tTilly yours, 



LETTER 0? INSTRUCTIONS. 

. 

Relative to Citizenship witnesses at Daugherty, Indian Territory. 

South McAlester, Indian Territory, May 20, 1903. 
• 

Sarah Jones, et a!,, 

vs« 

C hoctaw and Chickasaw Nations. 

To. h. F. Tredwell: 

The name of Lizzie Shoeppe of Daugherty, Indian Terri­

tory appears upon our list as a probable witness for the Nations, 

in the above styled case but it does not appear who furnished us 

the name of this witness. We find the testimony of one witness 

for the applicants by the name of E. M. Cheoppe and it may be 

that Mrs. Shoeppe is the relative of the other witness and that 

the name of Mrs. Shoeppe has been misspelled. You are directed 

to see her at Daugherty and take any testimony she may have to 

offer in the case of Sarah Jones, et al. , 

In the case of Sarah Jones, et al.: 

I was directed to see Mrs. E.M. Schoeppe, of 

Dougherty, Indian Territory. I went to Dougherty and there 

learned that Mrs. Schoeppe lives near Berwyn, Indian Territory. 

I saw her and tooK from her tile statement hereto appended. 

31 

32 
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In the Jnited States Court, for the Southern -let, 

of the Indian Territory, at Ardmore. 

flj*+s£ V^A^y . plaintiff, 

' Z T I Y. 

Yrj^ ^J^^uyZ defendant. 

Testimony of :>. Bruner, 

taken on this th' h day of January, 1901, before the ftonb: o. 

Hinkl . sry, for the United States Court, for the 

e m District il of tl e Indian Territory| at his office in Arc 

Cruce for th 

- \nr for the iL m • 

Direct examination by W. I. Gruce. \ 

i,runer, what is your age, and how Ion?;; have you liv. 

in ,the': 3 »rrltory ? 

I have lived here always. 

•M,. fell what is your ag< 

I a::. gjoing on 56 — going on 6% years Q 

Did you :;ver know a man -•• 

Grouch — or Couch ? 

• every body line 

hat school 

A, • > 1. 

school — close to Stoj ] ? 

•lose 1 

Yes sir. 

rritory ? A« ir* 

living with h. 

.? 
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Yes sir there was a girl lived with —— an in< 

girlj or she looker '. t. 

whether or not her name was Sarfih ? 

guess so — her name — . .s the only 

/I that ever live 

ich ? 

3 sir he went to the Chocti from • to 

ho ta :e this girl I .tone-

vial.. ? 

sir he did — she went, 

her with him ? 

Blr she went With hira — she was a orphan girl* 

Did she look to he an Indian ? m -.-+*$<&*#*&&**,+• -

'ir you could tell that she w; tn she looked 

like it. 

) you know whether or not this is the same girl ? 

could not swear to it positive —- bu*t I oat sure 

it is thmigh. There was no other girl that si \ that 

off and I was there several times — I stopped tb 

B or two times. 

witness excused: 
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A, 

' v 1 

A, 

\ 

PHILLIP RflttHMB, being first duly sworn, testifies a 

Mr. Cruce: 

How old are you9 

i I an seventy-three years old. 

. I'ow long have you lived in the India '\ territory? 

- I have lived here almost all my days. I came from, KltliSl 

was fire years old about, and been here with then ever sinee 

q 

A 

.' 

s 

You came h<*re with the Indians9 

Yes sir, came with them fran ississippi • 

\, isrt you acquainted with Parson Oouch? 

Yes sir. 

. Din you know him when he was running a school up h**re in 

tory9 

i 

B 

Ye s sir. 

Where was he living? 

1. On .Blue, Pleasant Srove. 

. I Wil3 get you to Btfttf whether or not I t that time he ha 

girl living with him by the name of Surah9 

L 

| 

A 

!• 

'\ 

A 

Q 

A, 

* t 
A 

Yes sir, he had an Indian girl living with him by the nm$ 

What Tribe of Indians -as she a amber of9 

She was a Chickasaw. 

. Do you know where he got her9 

A froa an old lady that lived on Bins by fchs name of Hetsy 

What kind, if any was "Betsy P>lackwater to Sarah9 

She was her {^r^nd daughter . 

Sarah was the grand daughter of p.etsy Rlackwater9 

. Yes sir. 

s follows: 

ipi when I 

• 

the rierri-

i an In41an 

of :">;o-ah. 

Blackwater. 

. Where did Parson Couch go to when he left the Chickasaw nation9 

. I understood he went t© the Choctaw nation when he left t 

Nation. 

ho Ohiokasitw 



q. Did he take Sarah w i th hira? 

A Yes s i r . 

Q. Where did he g* from the Choctaw Ration, if you know? 

A He went to Texas* 

Q. And he toek her from there to Texa3? / 

A Ye s air. 

Q. Did yon say that Sarah was known as a Chickasaw Indian at that tine? 

A Yes sir. 

Q And Old aunt Betsy Bladkwater, what was she? 

A Chickasaw. 

Q A full-blood9 

AYes sir. 

Q. She was the grand Bother of Sarah9 

A Yes sir she was Sarah's grand mother. 

The Master I How nuc h Indian blood did Harah have in her? 

A. Sarah had the Indian blood; I think it was a little nixed. I always 

understood that her father was part colored. 

Kr. yruce: You have always understood that her father was part 

Indian and part colored, and her mother was a full blood Chickasaw Indian 

A. Yes sir. 



. TOK POLAli, b e i n r s-'orn, t e s t i f i e s as fo l lows : 

Mr• Cruce: 

Q. How old a re you? 

A Sixty yea r s old . 

4« Bid you know old. Parson Couch who ran a school Aown on Blue9 

A Yes s i r . 

Q. Was t h a t before the W*r? 

A Ye s s i r . 

Q. Did he have a g i r l l i v i n g wi th him, an Ind ian r i r l , by the name of 

Sarah7 

A Yes s i r . 

Q Do you k."OW wfiere he not h e r 7 

A Ho s i r I d o ' n t know where he ;<;ot he r , I th ink they sa id she vras an 

orphan g i r l he was raising* 

0 Did you know the old woman there , her errand mother9 

A Ye 3 sir. 

| What -?as her name9 

A Betsy Blackwater. 

Q Was she a full blood Indian9 

A Yes sir. 

A 

q, 

A 

0 
1 1 < 

J% 1 

A 
• 

0 

A 

Q, 

- Did you 

No i i r i 

, Do 

I 3 

i Do 

, He 

i Yo> 

Yes 

You 

Yes 

know S a r a h ' s f a t h e r 9 

d i d 

you know 

n o t know him. 

what became of Sa rah? 

Oppose she went of:' w i t h Couch. 

you 1 enow 

was o v e r 

where Mr* Couch went l 

i n the Choctaw N a t i o n 

i u n d e r s t o o d he took Sa rah w i t h 

s i r . 

knew 

s i r . 

» How b i c 

• 

rhen 

n e x t 

h im 9 

cM.rah a t t h a t t ime d i d you? 

was s h e , a s m a l l g i r l ? 

he l e f t 

and wen 

t h e r e 9 

it from t h e r e to ? e x a a . 



A. Yes 3ir, she was a girl at the time. 

Q Did she show to be an Indian? 

A Yes sir. 

J. Shoals, bein; duly sworn, testifies t.s follows: 

-. fir-ice: 

Q How old are you9 

A Eighty some odd years. 

CI I?ow lorif have you lived i:; the Indian Territory9 

A. I have been with then all my life. 

o Came from "ississipi with the Indians, did you9 

A Yes sir. 

Q. Did you know Parson who^lived on Blue and taught school9 

A Ye| sir. 

%» Bid you. k ow a tfirl t h a t l i v e d wi th him a t tha t time by the name of 

S a r a h ? 

Q Yes s i r . 

Q. Did you know her f a t h e r 9 

A No s i r I did not know htsr f a t h e r . 

•• Did you know her grand mother 9 

A Yes s i r . 
• 
Q. What was her name9 

A Betsy Blackwater. * 



Q State vrhe ther ̂ etsy Blackwater was an Indian9 

A, Yes sir she was an Indian, 

Q. What kind of an Indian? 

ACHickasaw Indian, full blood. 

<i. Bo you know what became of Parson 0 uch? 

A Yes sir, right at the close of the war he left and went to Texas fron 

the Oho0taw nation. 

Q Did you know hin in tho Choctaw ??ation? 

A Yes sir, I knew hin in the Choctaw nation. 

Q It was then in the Choctaw Nation that you knew him'-' 

A Yes sir. 

. What business was he iii1-

A Ho was preaching when I knew him. 

l He had this girl with him in the Choctaw nation? 

A Ye3 sir. 

Q. How big was the ftirl? 

A She was a small girl; pretty eood size too. 

About how old? 

A About ten years old. 

Q. He took her from there to Texas? 

A Yes sir . 

c. So then you did not know him in the Chickasaw Ration? 

A It was in the Choctaw nation when I first got acquainted with hin 

0 Do you know whether he brought the rirl from the Chickasaw Nation? 

• 11 was my 1 mder s tMid i 116 • 

Q. And took her to the Choctaw Nation? 

A Yes sir, she was an orphan child. 

Q Was Sarah Indian or not? 

A She was Indian yes sir, a little nixed. 



Q Have you seen Sarah since9 

A Yes sir. 

Q. Bow lori; ainco you have seen her"? 

K No lon ; ; s i n c e . I have seen her p r e t t y near every day. I seen her to-day 

I seen her r e t t y near ev^.ry a&y for the l a s t th ree or four y e a r s . 

Q.Did you keep up w i th her whi le she was in Texas. 

A Yes s i r . 

0 Is that the sane person sitting there (Pointing to woman) 

A. Yes sir. 

Q Is she the same Sarah you knew in the Choctaw nation who was with Par-

s on Couch'-1 

A Yes s i r she i s the sane one . 

This cause i s here adjourned by the master u n t i l February 6 t h , 

to al low the product ion of a d d i t i o n a l tes t imony. 

rt^o^y^^ * ' 
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Court 2-To. 76 

J)awe s Ho. 

Sarah Jones et al, 

vs 

Ch i okas aw Hation. 

llotlce of appeal by applicants wa••> issued by the Clerk of 

the Court Jan. a, 1097. 

ITo papers in the case were ever received from the Dawes 

Commission, by the Clerk, in response to the order of Court there­

for, and the case does not appear on the docket of the Dawes 

Commission. 

On Pec. 22, 1697, there was filed in the Clerk's office what 

purports to be a carbon copy of the original application to the 

Dawes Commission, which copy contains the names of the thirteen 

parties admitted to citizenship by judgment of the Court rendered 

.rch 8, 1890. 

The substituted answer of the Chickasaw Hation to the suit 

before the said QommJraaiori avers'*5fiatythe applicants are of negro 

blood, but the Court did not so find. 

The case has been appealed to, and is now pending in, the 

United States Supreme Court, fc >f*** V ^ ^ ^ *"̂C 

H / . Xc >tt 
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT, FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT, 

OF THE INDIAN TERRITORY. 

, :,,.,- AT ARDMORE, 
- o - o - o - o - o - o - o - o ~ o 

~{ ,F tf%i if if 

Sarah Jones, et al. Plaintiffs, 

-vs- ) Notice. 

Chickasaw Nation, Defendant. -

To the aDove named defendant the Chickasaw Nation their 

attorneys at record, //i y*^^<^oo «e*o«— , 777 ^t^c^ *~JJ^CJ( • 

/yf f/JAAM/^aA L/XJI £°>V aro hereby notified that the â o/fe caus e fj 

is set for hearing uefore me at my office in the town of Ardmore, I. T., 

Chickasaw Nation, on Friday the 22 day of June 1900, at which time and 

place you are notified to »e present. 

Given under my hand on this the 13" day of June, A, D. 1900. 

J^r^^^ 7^i^j<J^ 

Master in Chancery. 
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•FHOS. T. ECKERT, President and General Manager 

R E C E I V E D at 16D.HU 
ll$N&On ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ 

'dmore , I. T 

Tansf ield McMurray Cornish, South Mcalester. I. T 

must he disposed of this term will hold 
Che Court says this case 

open for answer, t John Hinkley^ 
1004AM 

http://16D.HU


lum is ua uiMKJiFjiAiKU MUSSSAUE, and i3M»iijj»i£d by request of the sender, under the conditions named uoove 
T H O S T T . ECKERT, President and General Manager 

R E C E I V E D at 
13SG&0N 
A r d J n o r e » I # T 

1 3 C o l l e c t 

Mansfield McMurray 

Sareh Jones 
evening, 

Hi 
• : - ; ? ' v ^ 

yS' 

&COrn:lch, 

case continued 

• 

to Peby 6 deposition 

John Hinckle,; 

-

100PM 

• 

be forwarded 

• 

this 
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Ardmore, I. T. , Fehy. 7, 1901. 

Mansf},61d, McMurray & Cornish, 

So. McAlester, Indian Terry. 

Gentlemen:-

In Re. Sarah dones, vs Choctaw Nation, is continued for the 

purpose of taking testimony, until the first day of May, 1901, at which 

time the testimony should all "be in. 

My fee for the present is ten dollars. You wrote me you 

would pay the same, when I informed you of the amount. 

The stenographer, informs me that you have paid him for the 

testimony taken and he will furnish you a copy at once. 

Respectfully, 

// Master. 



Ardmore, I..T. March 2, 1901. 

Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish, 

South McAlester, I. t • 

Gentlemen* 

Will you kindly inform me of the day the case of Sarah Jones 

was set for final hearing "before me at this place, as the same appears 

from the notice which I heretofore mailed to you. I neglected to make 

a minute of this setting on my docket, and I desire this information 

in order that I may he shure and he here on the elate set. 

Yours truly, 

Mas ter in chanc ery . 

* 

6\ 
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COMMISSIONERS. 

HENRY L. DAWES. 

TAMS BIXBY, 

THOMAS B. NEEDLES, 

C. R. BRECKINRIDGE, 

ALLISON L. AYLESWORTH, 
SECRETARY 

DEPARTMENT, OF THE INTERIOR, I 
COMMISSION TO THE FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. 

Muskogee, Indian Territory, April 26, 1901. 

Messrs. Mansfield, IfcMurray & Cornish, 

Sout h McAleefer, Indian Terri tory. 

Gentlemen: 

Receipt is hereby acknowledged of your letter of April 

17th enclosing a motion to correct the record in the case of Sarah 

Jones, et al, vs the Chickasaw Nation. Said motion was filed in 

this office on April 18th. I have to-day advised John Hinckle, 

Master in Chancery at Ardmore, of the filing thereof, and of the 

fact that the Coianission has fixed as a date for hearing arguments 

on said motion, June 3, 1901, at 10 o'clock, A. M. 

Very res~c ay, 

Chairman. 



Bowth »{Al*8tW| Tnd. '<••-., Apri l 27, 1901. 

?re33.<-ruce & Cruce, 

Ardmore* Xnd. Toi% i 
I 

3)ear S i r : ^ ^,,, _ 

In r e the case of Sara};. Jones ©t al v s . The Chickasaw Nation* 

We have r i l e d v/ith thy Dawes Commission a m o t i o n to Oa cul thft 

none pro tunc ©*iiry or ih« case, upon the 109(3 docket* The h e a r i n g 

upon the motion has been »»t 0&r June S« 

We hav- undertaken to n o t i f y you thereof , aid SttOh is fcha ourposc 

of t h i s l ' ?y^ ; r . 

The commission has aav.io.ed Kon. John Kinfclej Blaster in 

chance:?-;/ of the jpatfcdency oT the motion Mid or tb» 9«;t f o r .... -

ingj 90 'httt no f u r t h e r taction may br taken pending the d i s p o s i t i o n 

of th f: Mm • 

Immediately a f t e r the .-lotion id d.i-'ioosed of, we nhal l 

the m a s t e r !t>h a s o r t i f tod copy or the a c t i o n oi' the Cor«aiS3ioru 

f e w u l d be p leased to have you advise ua if you d e s i r e t o 

argue the n o t i o n o r a l l y g o r to submit the same upon b r i e f s . You 

w i l l unders tand t h a t t he motion r a i s e s the ques t ion of the powar to 

r e n d e r a judgment? and e n t e r the Same upon the docket , a f t e r the 

e x p i r a t i o n of the t ime f ixed by t h e a c t of Tune 10, 18••> \ and 

d i r e c t l y involves th# j u r i s d i c t i o n of the United S t a t e s 

cour t upon a p p e a l . 

We would s u r e s t t h a t VI have no p a r t i c u l a r d e s i r e t o a rgue the 

motion < r a l l y i and w i l l submit i t ''pen b r i e f s , i f t h a t ar ranrment 

i s (»at i s f a c i o r y with you. ?#f? t r u l y y o u r s , 

D i c t a t e d . 

http://aav.io.ed


. , MAW vr-\ th t h6 CaSftj 
I f t h e r e any any c o o t s i n conn e t i o a i i « i 

and we5y.3h.dl be p l e a s e d tic r e n i i . 

V t r y r e i p ec t £ 1 i l l y t 

D i c t a t e d . 
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South HcAlesteri Tnd* ';.'er., April &7, 1901 

Dl 

in i 

Hon. John Hinkl^i 

Master in tVhanc^ry3 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ 

Ar &nb re , Xndi an 7 e r r i t o r y, 

Dear ~i r : 

In the skit ter of fStairath 9oti*a v». th# fthickaeeM1 Nation, 

ponding b'.vj.'or* • you; afl$ ee't for £He t^ki-r- of £$'stlittOfty on 

""ay l : 

' r" herewith enclose copy of l e t t e r of the C'e?fwi:B8ion<9 to 

the Five Ci^.pjlfea1 "rtiich is self explanatory, 

jThi$ not ion ••aVses the* question of <*"hat jiidgfiienti t.f sny* 

• .hi 5hia base in in^". ana* of oourea involves 1 

j t i r t sd i c t i oh of the ttntted St&Jfes Court ttpifti appeal, 

Tt ' " i l l b'. observed th&t the "hearing upon th is raot Ion Has been 

set for ,Tu?'< 3 , l t e ^ O$$|pffior-. has advised yon. of t h i s proeeed,U>£# 

Ij9Jfte<! l a t e ly ' a f t e r the d i spot Ion Of ^his motion , W** «ril3l 

h&v tv e Co^iiscion furnish yon a ce r t i f i ed copy of t he i r ac t ion 

30 t ha i t any further consideration of the cas^, « i t he r bexore you 

or the coart j nay confam the re to . 

W<5 have not i f ied fteiiaere ©ruoe &Cruae of the pendancy of the 

no t i ce , and of tVic date sot t o r h$artn£ the srcjnei aild in v'er. ; of 

th i s s i t u a t i o n we s h a l l , of (tfur**, not be present on Hay 13 

or give the case any fa r ther a t t en t ion the ret u n t i l the not ion 

shal l have be .n disposed of. 



Ardmore, I . T. Apr i l 29 , 1901 

« \ 

Mess. Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish, 

Sou th McAle ster; I•T. 

Gentlemen.- Your letter advising us of the motion you had made in the 

Sarah Jones case, before the Dawes Commission, is at hand', and in answer 

will say that we shall insist upon the master passing upon this matter 

on the day it is set, to-wit, May 1st. You will remember that your Mr* 

Cornish was here during the last term of court, and was not then' ready to 

submit the case. We a [greed with him then that if the court would permit 

the master to withhold his report, you Mght have until the first day of 

April to take your proof\ and after seeing the judge and knowing the 

court would not convene until the 6th of May, we agreed that the master 

give you until the first day of May, in order to allow you all the time 

possible to get in your proof. And it is passing strange to us that we 

should be met at this late hour with such a proposition.' In the first 

place we do not think the Commission^ has any jurisdiction whatever in 

thismmatter now, for the reason that it is in this court on appeal, and 

besides we do not believe the commission would undertake to change What 

it has done, as the entering of the nunc pro tunc judgment was nothing 

more than making the record speak the truth. 

Yours truly, 



Ardao: ke , Indian Territory, 

' 30, 1901. 

isfield, LIcrJurray a- Cornish, 

8c. IcAlester, I. T. 

Gentlemen!- Your c Q n of April" 27th also notice from the 

Dawes Commission, In Re. Sarah Jones's application for citizenship, 

were received in O^o time. The case was brougl t uj this morning at 

motion hour, before the court in my interest, that I might know what 

course to proceed on in the matter. The court refused to take any act 

ion, or to reoAgnize the Daes Commission, it therefore becomes my 

duty, under the order of r f r nee to report this case, as hereto­

fore ordered. 

Yours very truly, 

JjU^fiAx. 
""aster in Chareorj . 

' 



Ardnore, I. T, May 2, 1901. 

tsxield, McMurray <̂  Cornish, 

South McAlester, I. T. 

(Ji 11 6216 ' 1 • 

I herewi th enclose you copy of p i a s t e r ' s r epor t in the case 

Sarah Jones e t . a 1 . v s . Chi c ka saw Ha 11on• 

Yours r e s p t . 

Master in Chancery. 
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ALUSON i. AVLnywumw," 
SECRETARY 

Muskogee, Indian Territory, June 8, 1901. 

Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish, 

Attorneys at Law, 

South McAlester, Indian Territory, 

Gentlemen: 

Receipt is hereby acknowledged of your letter of the 

5th instant, enclosing a motion to cancel the record entries made 

"by this Commission upon its 1896 docket of citizenship cases in 

the case of Sarah Jones et. al versus the Chickasaw Nation. 

Yours truly, 

Ac t ing Chai nnan. 



BonSx KcAl#ster, Xn&lan Territory, j^ly,,*;-*, I9(;i, 

- . . 

. ' c a ".0 f ' . -.' .' ' ' .('.':.•' ' ' . 5,-t/OJJ 
• 

'• I • -1 r • o.1 t iscnah ^QlcGt, ' v:* f,b& 

v3l '. t«i<$ ;J',''"'" V/.'i'n ' ' .-1;'/ ' ' ( : , ' . •"' I T ' ' l5 ' " ' 0 - •'•'j 

vrifttont ttfiMc^ '••" .-.- C/ilc: fo r Choctaw Hat.ions, the • <;3t< 

it or v'U' submit '.'•:,!-:,i-".* agOj 

, ' tlooi^iojj b6 .;v^*i t<?y*0d h<3 convenience o 

inTox^uftt.ioii o t ;,ho Corani 5S Ion we hfflr*<fwith close 

s t%$6 • •- •.,- the • ' of whtc î .is on 13-© 

i •-.-'"IT;r. be subs ! • 3 he tytfpmi,ss I 

i --;:•,, r Lro c tl. ̂  st-f^ect >tiors 

*' "' 0' fi OV9 : ,v if •'•"' *?**{! fcOj '-"'• tfik<9 tfl«5 l i b ^ y t " ' '• ' i t 

":..i • •-. • ntiors wit3i ' ''- * • i;'i^ c 

$ne!c ;»;r*. 



South /ScAV-SU-r, Iivihai T e r r i t o r y , Ju ly fc&i 1*0X« 

The HofiuuissiOf) to %h* FWn C i v i l i s e d T r i b e s , 

tts Of,ee, Indian T e r r i t o r y 

r e a r fr, .rs; 

Uh enclose i *n< ©f «T. ? :. PtaMfyi Notary PubU©* 

in regard to case of Bamh Jon^s at a l v s . 7he Ohiekas«w rrat ion. 

This aneloBurl should have been sent w*4h our l e t t e r of •"'<-il;' 

a r r t a g to £h& c a s e . 

Very t r u l y y o u r s , 

I . .... "Ul, 

"""nclosur". 

*'-'} v,in—,r,t wi thout n e t i o e thereof to th* OHoeisw e r Cai^^fc&rr t a t 

yarit<*0 i n i n t e r e s t * '.{cw dws.r* t o De 5 rr"t 'rred /if t h e ' C c 

! 

co , :y of ft © t a t eii»€ui t . uw.a ' yen lis c-irrf tc 'h.t •;•& t yu ••-• 

-



ALLISON L. AYLESWORTH, 
SECRETARY. 

ADDRESS ONLY THE 
COMMISSION TO THE FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. Muskogee, Indian Territory, July 25, 1901, 

Messrs. Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish, 

Attorneys at j,aw, 

South McAlester, I. T. 

Gentlemen: 

Receipt i s hereby acknowledged of your letter of the 23rd 

instant, referring to the case of Sarah Jones et al. vs. the Chick­

asaw Nation, and in which you call attention to the fact that you, 

as attorneys for the Chickasaw Nation, have "before this Commission 

a motion to.cancel what purports to be an entry "nunc pro tunc" of 

the judgment of the Commission on the 1896 citizenship docket, for 

the reason that the same was entered upon the application of the 

claimant without notice thereof to the Choctaw or Chickasaw Nation, 

parties in interest. You desire to be informed if the Commission 

has up to this time acted upon such motion. You. are informed that 

no action has been taken relative thereto up to this time. 

You further state in your letter that you enclose a certified 

copy of a statement, which 3'ou desire to have f i led as a part of 

the record in the case of Sarah Jones et a2rrT5~. the Chickasaw Na-

tion. Your letter was received withoXt/ifuc>^nc^rure. 

Yours tri 

Commissioner in Charge. 



IUMBARY' 

ADDRESS ONLY THE 
COMMrSSION TO THE FIVE CIVILIZED TRIBES. Muskogee, Indian Territory, July 27, 1901. 

Messrs. Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish, 

Attorneys at Law, 

South McAlester, I. T. 

Gentlemen: 

Receipt is hereby acknowledged of your letter of the 

25th instant, enclosing certified copy of a statement of J". M. 

Perry, Notary Public for the Southern District of the Indian Ter­

ritory, which, in your letter of July 23rd you referred to, and 

desired to submit to the Commission in the matter of the case of 

Sarah Jones et al. vs. the Chickasaw Nation, 

While the same will not be filed with the records of 

this case at this time, it will be retained in this office and pre' 

sented to the Commission at its next meeting for such action as 

may be considered necessary. 

Youri 

Commissioner in Charge. 



Sarah Jones,et a l . 

Vs. He. 78 judgment, southern Da t r i c t . T:ay 2, 1901. 

C hie Iras aw Hat i o n. 

This day t h i s cause coming on for t r i a l upon the pleadings 

xn&xxxp and proof and the report of John HinldLe, pas t e r in Cha eery 

of t h i s court , to ban t h i s cause was referred to take proof and re ­

port the same; and. i t appearing tha t said Master in Chancery 

f i led his report herein, repor t ing the fac ts on the second day of 

Mayj 1901, and that said report has he en f i l ed for £ more than four 

days and tht no exceptions have "been f i led or made there to , i t i s 

therefor , considered, ordered and adjudged, that said, report he, 

and the same is % in a l l things sustained and confirmed. 

And i t ap aring from said report that gar ah Jones and other 

applicants hereinafter named, f i l e d the i r appl ica t ion "before the 

Commission to the Five Civil ized Tribe , on the nineth day o seotemfaer, 

A, D. 1896 ashing to he enrolled as members "by blood of the Chickasaw 

r lbe of Indians; and i t appearing tha t the Chickasaw nat ion; 

through i t s aurhoized attorneys f i led i t s answer before said Commission, 

together with affi "avits in support t her of, and. i t appearing thr.t 

on the 23rd. day of ITovember, 189G, said Commission passed upon said 

appl icat ion, and rendered a judgment denying the said appl icants 

enrollment as members of said Tribe, and denying t h e i r t i gh t s to en ro l l ­

ment as such; and i t eppe aring tha t s aid applicants indue time prose­

cuted and perfected t h e i r appeal from said judgment to t h i s court 

and tha t the sane was regularly f i l ed , with the papers from said 

Commission in t h i s co r t ; and that t h i s cause v/as duly referred to 

the Master in Chancery to take further proof and report the fact:;to 

th i s court as to the c i t izenship and Indian blood of said appl ican ts . 

And i t further appearing that said pas ter set th is cause for hearing 

before him on the 28th day of January, 1901, and not i f ied appl icants 

and sa id Chickasaw j a t i o n sosscxx thereof, and tha t t hereafter ad,j ourn&d 

the hearing of the same over to the 6th day of February, 1901 and then 

adjourned the further taking of testimony by agreement of at torneys 

represent ing the applicants and the Chiclcasaw ITation, over to the 1st 



day of nay, 1901: 

And the Court being well and suf f ic ient ly advised in the 

whole premises doth find tha t the appl icants , Sarah Jones, Armstead 

Jones, Isaw Jones, James Jones, To, Jones, Henry C. Jones, Ida 

Jones, Edward Jones, Berdy Jones, Ilfobetecker Jones, Alfred Jones, 

iHtry Powell, and Rosa Powell are ea h and a l l Chickasaw Indians by 

blood. 

I t i s t h ; efore considered, ordered and adjudged by the 

Court that they, the said Sarah Jones, Armstead Jones Isaw Jones, 

James Jones, Tom Jones, 9nFy C. Jones, Ida Jones, Edward Jones, 

gyftMx 3irdy Jones, Hubbe tec leer Jones Alfred Jones, Mary Powell and 

Rosa Powell are each and a l l members of the Chic ha saw Tribe of 

Indians by blood and are en t i t led to a l l the r i g h t s , p r iv i l eges and 

immunitites of Chickasaw Indians loy blood, and t h a t they and each 

of them are en t i t l ed to (Enrollment as Chickasaw Indians by blood and 

hould bo enrolled upon the f ina l r o l l of the Chickasaw ITation or 

the Chickasaw Indians as Chickasaw Indians and members of the Chickasaw 

Tribe by blood, and to share in the allotment end d i s t r i b u t i o n of 

lands, moneys and e l l the ada: benef i t s of Chickasaw Ind ians / 

I t i s further adjudged th at the applicants SoddaQoacx Lucy 

Jones, Alma Jones, Veggie Jones and X Jesse Powell be denied enrollment 

as members of th l Chickasaw Tribe of Indians, for the reason that they 

are not Indians by blood, and have not complied with the marriage 

laws of the Chickasaw ITation. 

I t i s further ordered and adjudged a tha t a c e r t i f i e d 

copy of t h i s judgment be transmitted by the Clerk of t h i s Court to 

sai Commission to the Pive Civi l ized Tribes, for i t s observance, 

in making up the r o l l s of the Chickasaw «*tiOn of Indians and tha t 

t h i s i s the l a s t and f ina l judgment in t h i s case. 



g»r»h Jones, et a l . 

Vs. Ho. 78 Judgment, Southern D i s t r i c t , Hay 2, 1900. 

C hi 0 kasaw Hat ion. 

^ptxscta How on t h i s 2nd day of 3 ay, 1900 came on to he 

heard the motion of the p l a i n t i f f s to have sent up fr m the Commiss­

ion to the FiTO i v i l i z e d Trihes the original papers, and the judgment 

therein rendered "by said Commission to this Court; and the co r t Doing 

suf f ic ient ly advised in the premises, doth order said papers , ; that 

is a l l of the or ig ina l papers in th i s cause, now on f i l e in the office 

f the Com i s s ion to the f i r e Civil ized Tribes, to get her with the 

appl icat ion, answer, proof, judgment, and any and a l l other papers, 

and orders that may have "been made in said cause be and the same are 

hereby ordered to be forthwith transmitted by ^aid commission to th i s 

Court. And the Cleric of t h i s Court i s hereby d i rec ted to send a 

ce r t i f i ed copy of t h i s order to said Commission. 



Sarah Jones, et a l . 

Vs. Ho. & 78 Judgmnnt, Southern Dis t r ic t , Jan. 15, 1900. 

C hic has aw i!a t ion. 

How on t h i day t l i is cause coming on to he heard upon the 

motion of the defendant the Chic ha saw j a t i o n to set a aide the judgment 

herein rendered, and i t appearing tha t due notice has been given to 

p l a i n t i f f s herein of said motion and the court being well and 

su f f i c i en t ly advised in the preinises doth find that no judg ent 

as ever rendered against p l a i n t i f f s "oy the Commissi on to the 

Five Civilized Tr ibes . Therefore th i s court has never acquired j u r i s -

[ l e t ion of said case, and had no power to rente r said judgment, the 

same having been entered of record upon the representa t ion of p l a i n t i f f s 

that a judgment had been rendered against them by said Commission, 

from Which an appeal had been taken to t h i s cour t . I t i s therefore 

ordered and decreed that judgment be vacated, set aside and expunged 

from the record of t h i s court transmit a cer t i f ie r ; copy of t h i s 

order to the Commission to the f i r e Civi l i sed Tribes . I t i s fur ther 

ordered that the Chickasaw —atIon Inrs and recover a l l i t s costs in t l i is 

behalf la ied out and expended. And t h i s judgment be enter d nunc 

pro tunc to a l l of which the p l a i n t i f f excepts . 



Sarah Jones, et a l . 

Vs. ITo. 78 Judgment, Souther, B i s t . March 8, 1898. 

C hi oka s aw uat ion. 

This day th i s cause coming on to "be heard upon the pleadings 

exhib i t s , Master 's r epor t , and exceptions f i l ed thereto; and thfl 

court being suf f ic ien t ly advised, i s of the opinion that said report 

should "be confirmed. I t is therefore ordered adjudged and decreed 

"by the court that the appl icants , Saharh Jones, Mary Powell, Rosa 

Powell, Armstead Jones, Kdward Jones, Birdy Jones, Isaw Jones, 

James Jones, Bubbetecker Jones, Tom Jones, Ida Jones, Henry C. 

Couch, A;fred Couch, acfohand a l l he admitted and enrol led as 

members of the Chickasaw Tribe of Indians by toiood, and that they have 

a l l the r igh t s p r iv i leges and imonun i t i t e s as such. Clerk of t h i s 

court i s hereby ordered to transmit a c e r t i f i ed cop:/ of t h i s judgment 

to the Commiso ion of the Five Civilzed Tribes of Indians, which said 

Commission is toertby directed to place upon the r o l l s made out by i t 

'or the Chickasaw T.jations wach and a l l of t e names herein enumerated, 

and that they have a l l t h e r ights of Chickasaw Indians by blood, they 

being admitted as members of said Tribe b blood. 

To t h i s judgment the Chickasaw ITation by i t s attorneys ex-

exoepts. 



South McAlester, Indian Terr i tory , September 4, 1903. 

Mess. Mansfield, rcMurray & Cornish, 

South McAlester, Indian Terri tory , 

Dear Sirs : 

In accordance with your l e t t e r of August 17th, I went to 

Ardmore, and interviewed Mrs. Carter in regard to the Sarah Jones 

c i t i zensh ip case. I took from her a statement which is hereto 

at tached. 

I t seems that Mrs. Ca r t e r ' s husband, now deceased, who was 

a par tner of Herbert & Ledbetter is responsible for the Sarah Jones 

case, and for that reason I think t ha t l i t t l e is to be expected from 

Mrs. Car ter . 

Very respectful ly, 



JM THK inaTKD STATES COURT I" PI • X' DU!J T':' tTQRY/, 

SOtJTOTK DISTRICT A'.1 MU3 V . 

Sarah Jonea, e t . a3. ) 
Pli La i f f s , ) 

vs. ) ' • >3 T, 
The Ohicka ion, 5 

Defendant* ) 

•': ' styled canoe having be i , s t a r l a 

ehanceryi to take proof and nak« C ••• i ., I be leave to submit 

fflng: 

I find that the a ipl icants , Sara] J nas, \na ;. ten 8,1(1102 Jones, 

I;;:." Tone; ,-Ta"i=-s Joners, Alna Jones, rnov": Jones, TTc v:*;r Jones* i • Jones, 

. >nes, Kary Powell, Jesse >e 11, Rosa Powell, **•• I ftirdjf 

Jones, Hubb ker Jones, and Alfred Jones, f i led theif • .ie< tJ -n for 

>nt aa citiasens or the Ghickasaw Tribe of Indi > ' . :t re t 

3 Commission on the 9 h da '' Re t ibe , 1(196, claiming to be mem­

bers of the Chickasaw Tribe of Indiana "•„ bloodj that to this l icat ion 

the 03 Lcka aw Hation f i led i t s answer^ ':U'!at on November 83r< , 1896, !^ie 

said commission red the folio •• .- { sgroesj nevei owned 

bj Indians . n at in due t ine : I , l i e prosecuted an a peal to 

th i s court f ro : caid j:id t • 

That af ter the ord ! r« s< a, • i • — :. .., December 51s t | 

•0, i serve< lea on Cruee,, flrnce A Cruse, a t torneys representing 

applicants, and ttpon ans f i e ld , JeMttrray A ,:<'.J- nl si , attorneys represent* 

in,- the Chickasaw Nation, notifyini th( s that B%h da$ < • amu ryf 

1901, in a; office in the town of n , X rould hear any p loi I tat 

micht be offered bj either side In said cause j at *hioh L. the app l i can t 

appeared and Ln roduoed cer ta in proofj but that the a t torneys representing 

the Chickasaw Hation failed to a--.ear. I then adjourned the taking of 



testimony herein un t i l the 6th day of Fs • • i^ry, 1901; at tfhicii tide the 

i U >ant3 appeared, and took further testimony; but the afcl rneya iOi uhe 

Chickasaw Hation failed to appear• 

I aft« ard9| by agreerae i of counsel for both p l a i n t i f f and defend­
ant set th is cause for f ina l hearinr before me en Way 1s t , 1^-3 ; on which 

day applicants ap jeivrou by their a t torneys f but the at tomeya representing 

the Chickasaw nation fa i led to appear* 

1 have carefully invest igated a l l the teotiaony in this caui <th 

for the p l a in t i f fS i and the aff i av i t s f i led with the answer of the 

Chi •-': i >n• 

I find that the applicants Sarah Jonesi in the grand daughter of 

Betsey lack a te r ; that >&ic Hetsey Blackwater was a fullblood 3hiokasim 

Indian; that the not her of Sarah Jones was a fttllblood Chickasaw Indian t 

and that her father a.,., of nixed blood, part Chickasaw • dian and part 

negro. 

I fin t at le parent i Sarah Jones died while she ras a snai l 

ch i la ; and that she was given to a i i ss ionaryi by tl of Couch( to 

r a i s e , that said Couch tftok charge of her in the Chiekasai t ion , whers 

she rosidec i ith hisj as a member oi his family for some time; that said 

Couch aftej B . went bo the Choctaw nat ion and took ftarah with him; hat 

he a f t e r i and shortly bei i ...• war, removed f • • 

gation to the State of Texasj and ~f-tt^ said Sarah f i t - hi»; that 

a f te r his removal to the s ta te of T cas, he treatei Barah as a s lave. 

I further find that while in xas Surah Jones married 

a negrof and by him had Low.ing named children* :, >ne8| Arm*-

stead Jones, Isara Jones, James Jones, Von Jofces, henry C« Jones, Ida Jones; 

a 13 of whom ore iving in the Indian Territory tit the t ine of the f i l i ng 

of the appl icat ion aforesaid. 

1 find that the applicant , Lucy Jones, i s the erifs of said A-r stead 

Jones; that B - Ima Jones i s tne wife of said James Jones; that Maggie 
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In the Choctaw and Chickasaw C i t i z e n s h i p Court , s i t t i n g a t 

T i sheo lnge , in t he Southern D i s t r i c t of the Ind i an T e r r i t o r y . 

Sarah Jones , e t a l . , 

T S . Ho. 74 . 

Choctaw and Chickasaw N a t i o n s . 

DECREE Otf COURT. 

On t h i s day of , 1904, t h i s ***** coming 

on f o r f i n a l d e c i s i o n , t h e MM havina; he r e to fo re been submitted 

upon t h e law and the evidence, and the Court being wel l and 

s u f f i c i e n t l y advised in the p remises , doth f ind t h a t the 

p l a i n t i f f s , Sarah J o n e s , Armstead J o n e s , Isam Jones or Isom 

Jones , James J o n e s , Tom Jones , ll®nry C. Jones or Henry C. Couch, 

Ida J o n e s , Edward J o n e s , B i r d i e Jonee or Birdy Jones , Hubbeteeker 

Jones , Al f red Jones or Alf red Couch, Mary Powell and Rosa 

Powel l , are not e n t i t l e d t o be deemed or d e c l a r e * c i t i z e n s of 

the Chickasaw Nat ion, or t o enrollment as such, or t o any rli£ht* 

whatever f lowing there f rom. 

IT i s msxsvom omssus&t ADJUDGED MW EKCBCTD that the 

p e t i t i o n of the p l a i n t i f f s , Sarah J o n e s , Arastead J o n e s , I s a a 

Jones or Isom Jones , J a ^ e s Jones , TOG Jones , Henry C. Jones or 

Henry C. Couch, I da J o n e s , Edward Jones , B i r d i e Jones or Birdy 

Jones , Hubbeteeker J o n e s , Alfred Jones or Alfred Couch, Mary 

Powel l , and ROM Powel l , be denied, o,nd t h a t they be dec la red 

no t c i t i z e n s of the Chickasaw Nat ion , and not e n t i t l e d to 

enrol lment a* such c i t i z e n s , and not e n t i t l e d t o any r i g h t * 

t ever flowing theref rom. 

« . . . . * . . . • • . . . <§ • . . . . . A # # . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Chief Judge. 

* . * • . . . . t . . . . . . # § • * . • • • # § . » • . • * # • • • • • • * • • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A s s o c i a t e Judge . Assoc ia t e Judge. 
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DBPARTMSHT OF 
Commission to tne 

Tii~: ISTSRIOR* 
Five civilized Tribes, 

I, A. S. IIcKennon, a mernb -r of the commission to the Five 
Civilized Tribes, do hereby certify that the case of Sarah Jones, 
and others, v/as never placed upon the docket of citizenship cases 
by tne Commiesloo under the Act of Congress, June 10th, 1896, be­
cause they were found to be negroes, and not Chickasaw Indians, 
and no Judgment v/as therefore entered upon the docket of said 
Commiesion at that time* the Commission having no authority under 
said Act to consider or pass upon applications Of Freedmen for 
enrollment. 

Witness my hand as euoh commissioner this January 2nd, 1900. 

Commissioner, 
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In the United s t a t e s Court for* the Southern D i s t r i c t 

of the Indian t e r r i t o r y a t Ardraore. 

Sarah Jones, et. al. ) 
Plaintiff, ) 

vs. ) I 0 T I 0 E 
The Chickasaw nation, ) 

Defendant. ) 

The above styled cause having been referred to He, 

by the Hon. Ho sea Towns 11)4 * Jud̂ -e of the Southern District of the 

Indian territory, for my report thereon; Therefore, 

Oruce, oruce Jb Oruce, Attorneys for Sarah Jones and oth rs, and 

Mansfield, :c: -irray <& Cornish, Attorneys for the Chickasaw Na­

tion, 

Are hereby notified that said cause is set down for hearing 

before r,ie in my office in the town of Ardnore, on the Sith day of 

January, 1901; at which tine you and each of you may produce such 

testimony as you may desire. 

December 31st, 1900. 

C^iwaster in Chancery. 
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Sarah Jones, et al ) 
'• v.; r ) BO* 78 

Chickasaw Hation ) 

Now on this day, this cause coming on to,'be heard upon the ssst 

motion of the defendant , the Chickasaw Nation, to vacate and set aside 

the judgement rendered herein, and it appearing that due notice has been 

p;ivtm plaintiffs herein of said motion, and the Court being well and suf« 

ficiently advised in the premises, doth find, that no judgement was 

ever rendered against plaintiffs by the Commission to the Five Civilized 

Tribes, because said plaintiffs were found to be negroes, and said Com­

mission held that it had no power at that time to enroll freedmen, 

therefore this Court has never acquired jurisdiction of said cause, and 

had no power to render said judgement, the same having been entered ofxr 

record upt&n the representation of plaintiffs that a judgement h"d been 

rendered against them by said Commission, from which an ajpeal had been 

taken to this Court. 

It is therefore ordered and decreed that said ensteccx judgement be 

vacated, set aside and expunged iron the records of this court, and 

that the Clerk of this court transmit a certified copy of this order to 

the Commission to the Five Civilised Tribes* 

It is further ordered that the Chicasaw Kation have and recover all 
its this 
t$m costs in Its behalf layed out and expended. 
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